
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

Community Safety, 
Environment and Residents 

Services Policy and 
Accountability Committee 

 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 2 September 2014 
7.00 pm 

Fulham Broadway Methodist Church, 452 Fulham Rd, SW6 1BY 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor Iain Cassidy 
Councillor Larry Culhane 
(Chair) 
Councillor Sharon Holder 
 

Councillor Steve Hamilton 
Councillor Harry Phibbs 
 

  
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Craig Bowdery 

Scrutiny Manager 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 ( : 020 8753 2278 
 E-mail: craig.bowdery@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

22 August 2014 
 

 

 



London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Community Safety, Environment and 
Residents Services Policy and 

Accountability Committee 
Agenda 

 
2 September 2014 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1. MINUTES  1 - 8 

 To approve the minutes of the meeting held on 7th July 2014 
 

 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 

 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   

 If a Committee member has any prejudicial or personal interest in a 
particular item they should declare the existence and nature of the 
interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or as 
soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a prejudicial interest may 
also make representations, give evidence or answer questions about 
the matter. The Councillor must then withdraw immediately from the 
meeting before the matter is discussed and any vote taken unless a 
dispensation has been obtained from the Standards Committee.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance, then 
the Councillor with a prejudicial interest should withdraw from the 
meeting whilst the matter is under consideration unless the disability has 
been removed by the Standards Committee. 
 

 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION   

 To invite questions from members of the public present on issues 
relevant to the Committee’s remit.  
 
Members of the public with more complex issues are invited to submit 
their questions in advance in order to allow a more substantive answer 
to be given. Questions can be sent to the contact officer shown on the 
front page of the agenda.  
 

 

5. PARKING ON FOOTBALL MATCH DAYS  9 - 17 

 To receive a report from the Parking Projects & Policy Manager 
presenting an outline of the existing football match day parking controls 
in the borough 
 

 



6. RESIDENTS' VISITOR PARKING OPTIONS  18 - 23 

 To receive a report from the Parking Projects & Policy Manager outlining 
the existing Smart Visitor Permit scheme for parking by residents’ 
visitors, and discussing options for altering the system  
 

 

7. 2015 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) - UPDATE  24 - 31 

 To receive a report from the Executive Director of Finance & Corporate 
Governance, the Executive Director for Environment, Leisure & 
Resident’s Services and the Executive Director for Transport & 
Technical Services on the anticipated budget gap and the departmental 
budgets affecting this committee 
 

 

8. REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT (RIPA)  32 - 67 

 To receive a report from the Bi-Borough Director of Law on the Council’s 
use of covert surveillance techniques for the purpose of preventing or 
detecting crime or preventing disorder. 
 

 

9. SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP)  68 - 75 

 To receive a report from the Bi-Borough Executive Director of Transport 
& Technical Services providing a summary of the Surface Water 
Management Plan  
 

 

10. WORK PROGRAMMING   

 The Committee is asked to consider possible items to be considered at 
future meetings 
  

 

11. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 The following dates are proposed:  

• Tuesday 4th November 2014 

• Tuesday 13th January 2015 

• Tuesday 3rd February 2015 

• Tuesday 21st April 2015 
 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

. London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 

Community Safety, 
Environment and 

Residents Services 
Policy and 

Accountability 
Committee 

Minutes 
 

Monday 7 July 2014 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Iain Cassidy, Larry Culhane (Chair), 
Steve Hamilton, Sharon Holder and Harry Phibbs 
 
 

Other Councillors:  Mike Cartwright and Wesley Harcourt. 
 
Officers:  Chris Bainbridge (Bi-borough Head of Transport Policy and Network 
Management), Richard Buckley (Head of Environmental Health (Residential)) 
Elizabeth Fonesca (Bi-borough Environmental Quality Manager), David Page 
(Director for Safer Neighbourhoods) and Sue Perrin (Committee Co-ordinator) 
 
H&F Cyclists: Alex Ingram and John Griffiths 
 
Friends of Wormholt Park: Sarah Woodside  
 

 
1. WELCOME  

 
Councillor Larry Culhane welcomed everyone to the first meeting of the 
Community, Safety, Environment & Residents Services PAC.  
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
There were no apologies for absence. 
 

3. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Councillor Culhane declared an interest in relation to item 6, in that he had 
formerly been a member of Friends of Wormholt Park.  
 

4. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION  
 
Councillor Culhane invited public participation throughout the meeting.  
 

5. THE POLICE IN HAMMERSMITH & FULHAM  
 
This item was deferred.  
 

6. CYCLING IN THE BOROUGH  
 
Chris Bainbridge presented the report, which gave an overview of cycling in 
the borough and current issues and the measures being taken by the Council 
to improve cyclists safety and encourage cycling.  
 
Hammersmith & Fulham had one of the highest cycling rates in London, at 
4% of all journeys compared with 2% for London as a whole. The target was 
to increase this to 7% by 2031. 
 
The London Cycle Network (plus) had left the borough with a fairly 
comprehensive network of signed cycle routes. In March 2013, the Mayor of 
London had launched his cycling vision, which had three main areas:  
 

• a small network of high quality ‘Cycle Super Highways’, targeted at 

commuters; 

• a larger network of ‘Quietways’ mainly using less trafficked streets, suitable 

for cyclists including those who were less experienced, and  

• ‘Mini Hollands’ at selected town centres in Outer London. 

The Mayor’s Cycle Scheme was proving popular with some 60 docking 
stations in the borough. By May 2014, the number of docks and hires in the 
borough had risen to 78,000. 
 
Mr Bainbridge stated that the main reason people gave for not cycling was 
concern for their safety. There had been some highly publicised and poignant 
cyclists’ death in London. Between a third and half of cyclist deaths in the 
previous three years had been the result of collisions with HGVs. The Council 
was one of the pioneering boroughs in providing ‘Changing Places’ mutual 
awareness sessions for cyclists and lorry drivers. 
 
Mr Bainbridge outlined a number of initiatives including the introduction of 
20mph speed limits in residential areas. H&F Cyclists had expressed concern 
about cyclists’ perception of danger on Hammersmith Bridge and had asked 
the Council to introduce a 20mph limit. 
 
Cycle theft was another deterrent to cycling. The report showed that cycle 
theft in the borough declined between 2012 and 2013. 
 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Alex Ingram and John Griffiths, representing H&F Cyclists spoke about 
desired cycle safety improvements across the borough. Mr Ingram referred to 
areas where people perceived danger and did not cycle, and suggested that 
more could be done to make these parts of the borough more accessible for 
cyclists looking for safe routes. The stereotype of confident young male 
commuters asserting their space on roads was common.  
 
Mr Griffiths spoke about desired safety improvements on Hammersmith 
Bridge, asking for a 20mph speed limit to be considered. 
 
Mr Bainbridge then responded to these points and other queries and 
comments. 
 
The Council had to prioritise areas where there were real dangers of collision. 
 
Cycle training was open to children and adults who lived. worked and studied 
in the borough. Normally two lessons were offered. 
 
There were no current plans to extend the cycle hire scheme or the number of 
docking stations.  
 
Councillor Stephen Hamilton queried the measures in place to encourage 
people who perceived cycling as too dangerous, such as creating less 
dangerous routes across the borough. Mr Ingram suggested that these 
people required networks at a greater separation from traffic to be enabled to 
cycle, either protected lanes on roads or routes on quieter streets. 
 
Mr Bainbridge referred to the London Cycle Design Standard whereby 
existing streets could be given a cyclability rating, indicating those roads 
where people could  cycle quite comfortably.  The cycle map of the borough 
was being updated and the points raised at this meeting would be taken into 
account.  
 
The Council had bid for funds for a Cycle to School partnership involving a 
number of schools in the White City area and expected to be notified of the 
outcome in August.  
 
It was not safe to encourage cycling in all area. Wormwood Scrubbs and 
along the Thames or canal were recommended for less confident cyclists. 
 
Councillor Hamilton suggested that measures to slow down traffic at junctions 
might be more effective than 20mph speed limits, as physical measures to 
slow down traffic had been shown to reduce accidents.  
 
Councillor Phipps suggested that cycling could be encouraged by keeping 
open parks until dusk. 
 
Mr Griffiths queried the impact of the Hammersmith Bridge changes. Mr 
Bainbridge responded that further work would be required. Mr Griffiths 
referred to the H&F Cyclists survey which found that many cyclists found the 
four pinch points on the bridge very intimidating, and many would not cycle 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

across on the roadway. Where the bridge was narrow, cyclists were expected 
to ride in the middle lane. This could feel very threatening with a 30mph traffic 
speed limit. The survey had recommended that a 20 mph speed limit be 
imposed on the bridge as soon as possible.  
 
H&F Cycles had been consulted on the position of the logos, but were 
unhappy with the consultation and hoped that future consultations would be 
much better.  
  
The Chair proposed that council officers looked into a number of priority areas 
and reported back.  
 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 
1. The following areas be assessed and reported back to the Committee: 

 
• Cycle safety on the Hammersmith gyratory 

• The benefit of introducing 20mph zones 

• Safety improvements for cyclists on Hammersmith Bridge 

• Creating a new borough cycling map with routes graded according to cycle 

safety 

 
2. The committee recommended that in the longer term a cycling forum of 

interest groups be established.  

Mr Ingram agreed to let members know if there were any meetings scheduled 
by the cycling forums in other boroughs.  
 

7. WORMHOLT PARK WORKS UPDATE  
 
David Page gave a presentation which set out the background to the 
refurbishment project and current proposals for Wormholt Park.  
 
Mr Page clarified that the Market Square was a paved walkway, not a 
shopping area. Two CCTV cameras would be installed in the park.  
 
Mr Page and Penny Brenan then responded to queries from councillors and 
members of the public.  
 
It was proposed to start on site in January 2015, with the park being open by 
the summer. 
 
A drinking fountain had not been planned, but could be considered. 
 
The park was too small for toilets.  
 
There would not be a café. 
 
The provision of table tennis tables was suggested. 
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

A member of the public who taught adult beginner cyclists queried whether 
there would an activities court/open area, which could be used for training. 
 
Sarah Woodside, representing Friends of Wormholt Park (the friends) raised 
concerns about nesting birds that use the park and the importance of 
maintaining the existing bio-diversity.. The friends had undertaken wild birds 
surveys over a number of years and some species were likely to be lost 
through the removal of bushes. Ms Woodside stressed the importance of the 
park retaining its Edwardian character. 
 
Mr Page gave assurance that the Council took these responsibilities seriously 
and that the discussion would be continued outside the meeting.  
 
In respect of benches, the friends would be given the planned locations.  
 
The adventure play area would be for older children. The Council had worked 
with four schools in respect of the play equipment and there would be an 
opportunity for the friends to view these proposals. It was likely that the chalk 
pit would be retained, but not in its current central location.  
 
There was concern in respect of the maximum height of 1.8 metres of 
bushes. It was suggested that prickly bushes next to the railings would be a 
deterrent to people accessing the park at night. 
 
Councillor Wesley Harcourt gave assurance that the Council would listen to 
these concerns and factor them into the revised set of proposals.  
 
There had been two public consultations organised by Levitt Benstein and 
consultation with four schools in respect of the play areas. Councillor Culhane 
suggested that the new Wormholt Park Tenants and Residents Association 
be informed. 
 
It was suggested that the tennis courts and football pitch should not be sited 
next to each other. Mr Page responded that an equitable use of the two new 
courts  had not been decided. Residents considered that there should be an 
additional two courts to replace those there previously and also the four in the 
BBC park. Market Square was proposed as a location.  
 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 
An updated report be provided to a meeting open to the public. 
 

Action: David Page 
 
 
 
 

8. AIR QUALITY  
 

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Ms Elizabeth Fonseca presented the 2014 Air Quality Progress Report, which 
reviewed air quality data for the pollutants nitrogen dioxide and particular 
matter and provided an update on the implementation of actions. 
  
The nitrogen dioxide annual mean objective continued to be exceeded in 
2013 at the majority of the 16 monitoring locations in the borough and were 
also likely to be exceeded alongside the very busy ‘A’ roads and in the town 
centre. 
 
Particulate matter monitoring is carried out in one location, from which only 
six months of data had been collected in 2013 due to a vehicle collision with 
the monitoring station. It was believed that the site would have exceeded the 
daily mean objective if the monitoring had continued for a whole year.  
 
The emission sources from within the borough were mainly from transport, 
residential and commercial activities. A large part of the pollution however 
arose from beyond the borough’s immediate area.  
 
Air Quality Action Plan for 2013/2014 progress had been included in the 
report. Whilst progress had been made in most areas, some actions had 
naturally slowed as they had reached the limits of what could be achieved.  
 
The next stage in terms of air quality review and assessment work would be 
to prepare and submit an Updating and Screening Assessment in April 2015.  
 
In February 2014, the European Commission had sent the Government a 
‘Letter of Formal Notice’ for breaching nitrogen dioxide limit values. The legal 
enforcement process was likely to lead to fines which could be passed on to 
regional and local government. 
 
In April Public Health England had published a report providing estimates of 
the number of deaths which could be attributed to long-term exposure to 
particulate air pollution, with Hammersmith & Fulham as the third highest.  
 
A member of the public commented on smoke from the use of solid fuel for 
domestic fires lit in houses in the borough and the impact on air quality.  Mr 
Richard Buckley responded  that this had been banned and was highlighted 
on the Council website. The  Environment Protection Service, which was 
responsible for noise and nuisance problems, would be asked to monitor 
smoke emissions. It was proposed that there should be a public awareness 
campaign.  
 
Ms Fonseca highlighted actions being taken by the Council, which included a 
tri-borough communication plan and work with GPs and hospitals to get out 
the message. 
 
The Council continued to promote travel plans to encourage a switch to less polluting 
forms of transport, thereby reducing congestion and improving air quality. All schools 
had produced travel plans.  
 

In response to a comment in respect of the significance of street trees to help 
improve air quality, Ms Fonseca stated that scrubs were actually more 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

absorbing because they were at a lower level comparable with that of vehicle 
exhausts. 
 
In respect of electric cars, the Council required one in five parking spaces in 
new developments to be for electric car recharging. In addition, the Council 
was implementing measures to reduce road traffic and emissions, such as 
20mph zones. 
 
Modelling of where pedestrians crossed the road and the impact of this 
exposure was not available in the borough.  
  
Councillor Harcourt highlighted some of the current issues such as the 
Tideway Tunnel, Old Oak railway sidings and the Hammersmith Broadway 
bus interchange. As part of the action to address these issues, the Air Quality 
Action Plan would be reviewed. 
  
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The report be noted. 

 
2.  The Committee recommended that the action plan be reviewed and three/four 

priorities be brought to a future meeting. 

 
9. WORK PROGRAMMING  

 
This item was deferred. 
 

10. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
The following dates were proposed:  

• Tuesday 2
nd

 September 2014 

• Tuesday 4
th

 November 2014 

• Tuesday 13
th

 January 2015 

• Tuesday 3
rd

 February 2015 

• Tuesday 21
st
 April 2015 

 
 
 

 
Meeting started: 7pm 

  
Meeting ended: 9.25pm 

 
 
 

Chairman   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Sue Perrin 

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 ( : 020 8753 2049 
 E-mail: sue.perrin@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
2ND SEPTEMBER 2014  

 

FOOTBALL MATCH DAY PARKING 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Transport & Technical Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:  For PAC Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Executive Director: Nigel Pallace, Bi-Borough Director, Transport & 
Technical Services 
 

Report Author: Naveed Ahmed, Parking Projects & 
Policy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 1418 
E-mail: 
Naveed.ahmed@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 The Council has responded to complaints about parking stress on football 

match days at the three football clubs in the borough by extending the parking 
controls where there was support amongst residents. This report presents an 
outline of the existing football match day parking controls in the borough.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the report be noted and that the Committee consider whether 
recommendations should be made to the Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Transport & Residents Services.  

 
 
3. ‘BLANKET’ EXTENDED CONTROLS 

 
3.1 Parking controls were extended in Controlled Parking Zones (CPZs) F & S, 

around Fulham Broadway in May 2002. The controls operate Monday to 
Saturday 9am – 8pm (permit holders only hours operate Monday-Saturday, 
6.30-8pm, and Saturdays 2-4pm). The blanket controls mean that the 
extended parking controls operate regardless of whether there is a football 
match. This was supported by local residents who felt that the controls were 
needed to address parking stress from the evening economy in the area. 
CPZs F & S were last reviewed in January 2011 when the majority of 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5



residents who responded indicated that they were happy to retain the 
extended controls. 

  
3.2 Residents and businesses in CPZ Q & R (close to Parsons Green) asked for 

a similar extended parking controls in 2004, which was implemented. 
However the scheme was then removed in 2005 at some expense, as 
residents and businesses felt the restrictions were too restrictive for their 
visitors and customers. 

 
4. MATCH DAY ONLY PARKING CONTROLS 

 
4.1 In December 2007 the Council introduced an innovative match day scheme in 

CPZ X & Y (around Craven Cottage) which was designed to come into force 
on match days and could be activated remotely. The scheme was granted 
special approval by the Department for Transport (DfT) for its use and won a 
National Transport Award in 2009. The scheme uses digital displays to advise 
motorists of the days when extended match day controls would apply. Prior to 
this, systems used in other boroughs involved hinged sign plates that were 
manually opened on match days then closed after the event, which was 
hugely resource intensive and the signs could potentially be deployed 
mischievously.  
 

                                        
Figure 1 & 2 - Indicative signage for the VMS scheme                                                                               

 
 

4.2 CPZs X & Y usually operate Mon – Fri, 9am – 5pm. However on match days 
(Monday to Sunday, including Bank Holidays), the controls operate from 9am 
to 9.30pm with a one hour maximum stay period for Pay & Display visitors. 
The one hour maximum stay does not apply to residents’ visitors using the 
Smart Visitor Permit (SVP), and on Sunday and Bank Holiday match days 
residential visitors using the SVP can park for free during the extended 
controls Variable Messaging Signs (VMS) provide advanced notification of 5 
days ahead of the match and extended controls operate on match days. 
 

 
5. MATCH DAY CONSULTATIONS 

 
5.1 In December 2010, all 12 zones south of Talgarth Road were consulted on all 

aspects of parking and a flexible match day solution was offered. The 
consultation included a few road-shows where council officers welcomed 
residents and businesses to come and discuss the proposals and to share 
their concerns, comments and feedback. The consultation highlighted a 
couple of areas of support but provided no clear mandate. 

Page 10



 
5.2 A summary of the consultation results in relation to the match day options is 

provided in Appendix 1, and a summary of the response rates to this 
consultation is provided in Appendix 2. The results show that there was no 
broad consensus of opinion in favour of extended controls on match days. 

 
 

6. CONSIDERATIONS FOR INTRODUCING MATCH DAY CONTROLS IN 
MORE ZONES 

 
6.1 The variable message signs deployed in CPZ X & Y are very clear and 

efficient, however there is a considerable capital cost of around £7,000 for 
each sign which would equate to a cost in the region of £4 million if the 
scheme were to be introduced in the 10 zones that were consulted. 

 
6.2 It would also be necessary to replace the existing parking sign plates and 

associated sign poles. This is because the match day sign plates are taller 
requiring mounting on a taller pole. Replacing the sign posts in the 10 CPZs 
would cost around £480,000. 

  
 
 

6.3 The signage would again require special approval from the Department for 
Transport (DfT), as the signs would be non-standard (example shown above). 
However there is currently a moratorium on authorisations for non-standard 
signage while the DfT carries out a major review of traffic signs leading to the 
revised edition of their Traffic Signs, Regulations and General Directions 
(TSRGD) due to be published in Spring next year.  

 
6.4 We would continue to seek S106 opportunities from planning applications 

from the football clubs to help mitigate local parking pressures.  
 
 

7. CONCLUSIONS 
 

o There is no clear mandate from the public consultation in January 2011 
consultation for the introduction of additional match day controls in the 
remaining zones south of the Talgarth Road. 

o Experience in Zones Q & R of introducing controls and then 
subsequently removing the controls at some expense suggests that 
any parking schemes should only be introduced if there is a significant 
majority of residents and businesses in support of the scheme, 
representing a broad consensus of opinion.  

o There have been very few complaints by residents relating to match 
day parking since March 2014, in comparison to in the past 

Page 11



o There would be considerable capital costs associated with expanding 
the match day only scheme, and additional resources would be 
required to add this work to the Transport and Highways Work 
Programme.  

o There has been interest for match day controls in CPZ J and a decision 
is expected by Cabinet later this year. 

 
 
 
                                  

    
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 12



Appendix 1 – Summary of responses in relation to match day parking from the12 
Zone January 2011 consultation  
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 13



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 14



 
 

Page 15



 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 16



 
Appendix 2: Response rates to the 12 Zone parking consultation in Jan 2011  
 
 
 

               

   D F H Q R S T U W  X Y Z  

 

Yes' to 
Matchday 
(Mon-Sat) 32% 49% 27% 58% 51% 60% 58% 45% 57% 69% 85% 52%  

  

Yes' to 
Matchday (inc 
Sun & Bank 

Hols) 27% 38% 21% 51% 41% 47% 53% 36% 46% 65% 85% 45%  

 
Percentage 
response 5.3% 3.4% 5.1% 11.3% 8.0% 5.1% 11.0% 7.6% 8.6% 11.2% 16.0% 5.2%  

 

Number of 
properties 
responding 380 245 235 558 279 165 190 307 526 209 176 215  

 

Total 
properties in 

zone 7096 7141 4628 4935 3509 3201 1716 4041 6110 1870 1075 4168  

 PERMITS              

 

Total 1st 
resident 

permit holders 1658 1461 1079 2437 1462 875 659 1515 2694 817 779 1190  

 

Number of 
respondents 
as %age of 
res permit 
holders 23 17 22 23 19 19 29 20 20 26 23 18  

               

P
age 17



 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
2ND SEPTEMBER 2014  

 

RESIDENTS’ VISITOR PARKING OPTIONS 
 

Report of the Executive Director for Transport & Technical Services 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification:  For PAC Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: No  
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Executive Director: Nigel Pallace, Bi-Borough Director, Transport & 
Technical Services 
 

Report Author: Naveed Ahmed, Parking Projects & 
Policy Manager 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 1418 
E-mail: 
Naveed.ahmed@lbhf.gov.uk  

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1 The Council operates a Smart Visitor Permit scheme for use by residents’ 

visitors. This report outlines the current system and discusses options for 
altering the system.  

 
 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1 That the report be noted and that the Committee consider whether 
recommendations should be made to the Cabinet Member for Environment, 
Transport & Residents Services.  

 
 

3. BACKGROUND 
 
3.1 In 2007, the new match day scheme in Zones X & Y initiated the need for a 

new visitor permit scheme. An electronic RFID (radio frequency identification) 
device was chosen and the necessary software developed by Parkmobile. 
The Smart Visitor Permit (SVP) offered additional parking benefits for 
residents’ visitors compared with the pay & display ticket system. These 
benefits included; exemption from maximum stay rules, per-minute charging 
at a lower rate and a half price charging for visitors of disabled people. The 
SVP can be activated and deactivated online, by mobile telephone and land 
line, following a simple verification process.  

Page 18

Agenda Item 6



 
3.2 The accounts associated with the SVP cards are topped up online or by 

telephone in a manner that is akin to the oyster card successfully used on 
London’s transport network. A bespoke IVR (interactive voice response) 
telephony system was developed with ParkMobile capable of recognising the 
mobile or land line used to call thereby making the activation/ deactivation 
process as easy to use as possible.  

 
3.3 Civil Enforcement Officers (CEOs) ascertain whether the permit has been 

activated by scanning or entering the permit details into a handheld computer. 
Within seconds, the CEO receives a message advising as to whether the 
permit is activated or not. 

 
3.4 The SVP offers users a reduced rate on the regular Pay & Display rates. The 

reduced rate is currently £1.80 in all zones compared to the £2.40 or £2.80 
currently being charged for Pay & Display. The SVP also offers further 
discounts to visitors of those residents who are registered disabled. At present 
this discount is offered at 90 pence per hour on the first 240 hours each year. 

 
 
4. PRESENT PARKING PROJECT DEVELOPMENTS IN THE BOROUGH 
 
4.1 The SVP scheme was gradually introduced borough-wide zone-by- 

zone between 2007 and 2012. Presently 13,015 SVPs are registered and 
used throughout the borough. Whilst during the roll-out process the Council 
was receiving some complaints relating to how the system worked that were 
addressed, the number of complaints has decreased significantly to around 1 
or 2 per month, mostly relating to individual concerns that are easily resolved.  
 

4.2 The 2012/13 fiscal year was the first year where borough-wide data was 
available with revenue being £534, 395. Revenue for the 2013/14 year 
increased to £901,724. The total number of parking transactions over the 
period May 2013 to May 2014 was 144,802, with an average duration of 225 
minutes (3.75 hours). These statistics suggest an increase in the uptake of 
the SVP, which corresponds with Pay & Park who issue 200 - 350 new SVPs 
each month. The data would also SVPs are being used more frequently with 
12,000 – 12,300 parking sessions a month. This equates to around 560 SVP 
parking sessions per controlled parking day (5.5 CPZ days per 7 day week on 
average in the borough). 

 
4.3 There are around 1100 pay and display ticket machines in the borough 

approaching the end of their serviceable life. The technology is dated and 
current systems offer cashless transactions through pay-by-phone or 
machines that accept credit/debit cards. Officers are currently trialling card 
payment machines in Zone K and will initiate a trial of phone payment in Zone 
E by the end of 2014. These trials will inform a future decision on the 
technology that the Council will adopt going forward.  

 
4.4 The outcomes of these trials will be compared with one another qualitatively 

(e.g. feedback from users) as well as quantitatively (e.g. data analysis relating 
to relative costs, feasibility and security),.It would be pertinent to look at 
alternatives to the SVP as part of these proposals. For example, Westminster 
City Council will be introducing an electronic discounted visitor card to be 

Page 19



used with their Parkeon supplied ticket machines from November 2014. 
Westminster expect this scheme will replace the existing scratch card system 
which only accounts for 0.01% of all parking sessions. Any future residents’ 
visitor parking scheme would be most economically viable as part of a fully-
integrated solution, rather than as a ‘stand-alone’ system.  

 
4.5 If the Council was to investigate a replacement to the SVP scheme to be 

introduced prior to, and independently of any borough-wide parking payment 
system then it may not easily integrate with any future replacement for the 
Council’s stock of ticket machines.. 

 
4.6 In the meantime, a number of improvements could be made to the current 

SVP scheme as detailed below.  
 
 
5. PROPOSALS TO IMPROVE THE EXISTING SVP SCHEME 
 

Auto-top up: 
 
5.1 One of the main criticism that residents have expressed in the past with 

regards to the Smart Visitor Permit (SVP) has been that they have to 
remember to top-up credit on the SVP system before their visitors arrive, if the 
credit on the account is low. In response we propose to offer an automatic 
top-up payment facility which residents will be able to opt in (or out) of easily. 

 
Operating the SVP as pre-pay: 

 
5.2 Officers could also investigate whether the SVP system should be converted 

to a pre-pay system, whereby a set amount of parking time is purchased 
initially, rather than having to start and stop the parking session. This change 
would ensure that the SVP system operates in a similar fashion to the ticket 
machines and will no longer require residents’ visitors to remember to stop the 
parking session. As part of this scheme the Council could also include an 
SMS message reminder service to inform users that their parking session is 
shortly to expire, and that they may wish to extend their parking session. It is 
likely that this service would be chargeable (around 10p per text message), 
and users would be able to opt in or out. 

 
Residents’ visitors paying with their own credit cards: 

 
5.3 Where residents wish for their visitors to pay for their own discounted parking, 

the SVP system could be amended to accept one off card payments from 3rd 
parties (this would include a verification process to ensure that the visitor is 
entitled to discounted parking).  This would be especially useful where 
workmen, or home carers are required to park when visiting residents. 

 
Costs and timescales: 

 
5.4 The three above amendments to the SVP system would cost in the region of 

£15,000 in IT changes, user testing and amendments to forms and 
information booklets. The changes would address the main concerns 
expressed by residents about the current SVP scheme. It would take 
approximately 6 – 8 months to implement these changes. 

Page 20



 
 
6. INVESTIGATING LONG TERM RESIDENTS’ VISITORS VOUCHER 

SCHEME SOLUTIONS 
 
6.1 In the long term there are three main potential alternatives to the SVP system. 

An overview of each of the 3 alternatives is presented below together with the 
advantages and disadvantages. 

 
Scratch cards 

 
6.2 Officers have looked into the use of scratch cards for residents’ visitors. This 

option is vulnerable to fraud (especially with low cost, high-spec colour 
printers, hologram makers and computer programmes easily available). 
Scratch cards also have a high administrative cost and many authorities (e.g. 
Islington, Camden and Westminster) are moving away from the use of scratch 
cards due to residents’ complaints about having to apply in person at Council 
offices, with proof of residence in the borough each time they want to apply  
for a new batch of scratch cards. Other authorities also report that many 
visitors often scratch off the wrong day/date/time and therefore receive a 
PCN, which adds to the reasons why London boroughs are moving away from 
scratch cards.  

 
6.3 Advantages: 

• Scratch cards have been used in the past and are fairly easy for users 
to understand 

• When a residents purchases a booklet they can issue the scratch cards 
for multiple vehicles at the same time 

 
6.4 Disadvantages: 

• Scratch cards are being phased out in a number of boroughs due to 
the ease in which they can be copied and fake versions created, and 
also due to the administrative burden and delays for the issuance of 
the vouchers to residents.  

• They allow the resident to use the scratch cards for multiple visitors 
cars to park at the same time. This can dramatically increase parking 
stress and prevent other residents from parking, therefore can negate 
the positive impacts of parking controls. As a result parking vouchers 
have generally been favoured in outer London boroughs where parking 
stress is generally lower than inner London 

• The scratch cards do not require any form of corresponding vehicle 
registration. This allows the cards to be used in any vehicle and can 
lead to the passes being passed on. 

• Enforcement of cars using scratch cards is significantly more 
challenging as the cards can be manipulated or forged. This may lead 
to considerably more challenges to issued PCNs which may increase 
the associated costs of enforcement. 

 
Ticket Machine Cards  

  
6.5 This is a newer technology that has become available as the overall ticket 

machine technology has improved, and therefore manufacturers may be able 

Page 21



to develop bespoke solutions as part of any tender process. Residents would 
be able to apply for a discount card or, a unique code generator that they then 
use at the ticket machine in order to receive their visitors parking at a reduced 
rate. Ticket machine cards will be launched in Westminster in November 
2014. 

 
6.6 Advantages: 

• This technology is easily accessible and does not require remembering 
to activate or deactivate, as it still requires a pay & display ticket, albeit 
one that provides an added discount 

• The management system is more simple as the visitor parking is tied 
into the same system as the general Pay & Display parking 

• With the technology the council can monitor usage and easily place 
restrictions on the number of vehicles that can receive the discounted 
rate 

• Advertising the scheme should be easier and public awareness higher 
as visitors and residents will use the ticket machines already 

 
6.7 Disadvantages: 

• This option requires that the current ticket machines on-street are 
replaced with newer models that can incorporate this technology 

• There would be additional administrative requirements associated with 
managing the discount cards or code generators. 

• The scheme would still require the visitor to go to a physical ticket 
machines in order to pay for their parking. 

 
Phone Payment Passes  

 
6.8 The exact details of this option will again depend on the provider and would 

require further detailed investigation, however, the option works based on the 
residents’ user account. When residents’ register for an account verification 
can be carried out to determine if they are also eligible for an account with a 
discounted rate. When visitors park the resident account holder can activate 
the parking session and register the visitors car’s licence plate to their 
account. 

 
6.9 LB of Camden operates an e-permits system which allow residents' and 

visitors' to use visitor parking permits without needing to display a physical 
permit in the vehicle. Instead, CEOs carry out checks using the vehicle 
registration number. This can present problems when vehicles are parked 
very close together, and therefore can make enforcement of CPZs less 
efficient because it takes longer for vehicle checks to be completed, when 
compared with checking vehicle windscreens. This can then lead to 
complaints from residents and local businesses about enforcement not being 
effective. 

 
6.10 Advantages: 

• The phone option does not require users to have any form of hardware 
or physical permit to be able to receive the visitor discount 

• With the technology managing accounts and monitoring restrictions on 
the number of usages etc. will be quicker and simpler 

Page 22



• With the system tied into the same provider as regular phone payment 
Pay & Display there is one provider covering both 

• Visitors would be able to top up their parking without having to return to 
their vehicle, via the mobile phone or internet platform 
 

6.11 Disadvantages: 

• This system requires users to have a mobile phone or internet readily 
available to manage the parking system 

• Users could be required to deactivate their service at the end of their 
stay, this could make the system more complicated and lead to 
complaints 

• Enforcement processes may need to be amended and may become 
more expensive 

• CEOs may experience IT/comms ‘black-spots’ which may impact 
enforcement 

 
 
7. CONCLUSION 
 
7.1 The current SVP scheme is well used and modifications can be made in the 

short term to address most of the concerns expressed by residents. In the 
long term there are opportunities to introduce more flexible systems but this 
should be explored as part of the strategy for replacing the stock of ticket 
machines. 

 
 
 

 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 

LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 

Page 23



 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND RESIDENT’S 
SERVICES POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
2ND SEPTEMBER 2014 

 

2015 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) - UPDATE 
 

Report of the Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Resident’s 
Services and the Cabinet Member for Finance 

 
Report Status: Open 
 

Classification:  For review and comment. 
 
Key Decision: No 
 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West, Executive Director of Finance and 
Corporate Governance 

Report Author: Jane West, Executive Director of 
Finance & Corporate Governance; Lyn Carpenter, 
Executive Director for Environment, Leisure & 
Resident’s Services; and Nigel Pallace, Executive 
Director for Transport & Technical Services 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 1900  
E-mail: jane.west@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. Due to significant and ongoing reductions in funding received by 

Hammersmith and Fulham Council from central government, in the next 
financial year there is a budget gap, before savings, of £24.9m. This gap rises 
to £66.6m by 2018/19. Cabinet will present their revenue budget and council 
tax proposals to Budget Council on 25 February 2015 for the next financial 
year. A report on the financial background to the budget  was presented to the 
Finance and Delivery Policy and Accountability Committee (PAC) in July. An 
update on the overall position is now reported. The context for the 
departmental budgets that relate to this PAC are also put forward for 
comment.  

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That the PAC considers the update and makes recommendations to Cabinet 

as appropriate.  
 
 
 
 

Page 24

Agenda Item 7



3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 

3.1. The current  Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)  forecast1 is set out in 
Table 1. The 2015/16 budget gap, before savings, is £24.9m, rising to £66.6m 
by 2018/19.  

 
Table 1 –Budget Gap Before Savings 

 

 £’m £’m £’m £’m 

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Base Budget 181.5 181.6 181.7 181.7 

Add:     

- Inflation 2.8 5.6 8.4 11.2 

- Contingency (Pay) 0.9 3.2 5.4 7.7 

- Contingency (CCTV Parking) 1.0 1.0 1.0 1.0 

- Headroom 0.2 1.4 2.6 3.8 

- Growth 3.5 5.3 5.9 5.9 

Budgeted Expenditure 189.9 198.1 204.9 211.2 

Less:     

- Government Resources (55.1) (43.6) (34.2) (25.5) 

- LBHF Resources (109.9) (112.4) (115.7) (119.1) 

Budgeted Resources (165.0) (156.0) (149.9) (144.6) 

     

Budget Gap before Savings 24.9 42.1 55.0 66.6 

     

Risks 6.2 9.9 12.3 12.3 

 
3.2. Money received by Hammersmith and Fulham Council from central 

government is reducing significantly every year. The latest forecast is shown 
in Graph 1. The cut in funding,  from 2014/15 to 2018/19, is expected to be 
more than £50m.   
 

3.3. Indicative 2015/16 grant allocations were announced in the most recent Local 
Government Finance Settlement and are incorporated in the forecast.  
Beyond 2015/16, the 2013 Autumn Statement set out projected government 
spending to 2018/19. These plans see a continued, and significant, fall in 
grant from Government.   
 

3.4. The forecast set out in Table 1, projects that government funding will  reduce 
in line with the Treasury spending plans beyond 2015/16. This forecast 
accords with broader financial modelling across London. There is a risk that 
the actual Government funding cut could be greater. 

                                            
1
 A 4 year forecast is provided as this is the time frame within which the government resource 

spending envelope was identified as part of the 2013 Autumn Statement.   

Page 25



Graph 1 – Government Resource Forecast Assumed in the MTFS 
 

 
 
 

3.5. Locally generated LBHF resources are council tax and the local share of 
business rates. Business rates are projected to increase in line with economic 
growth in future years.  
    

3.6. Future resources are uncertain. Government funding reductions could be 
more or less than currently modelled. Likewise council tax and business rates 
income may vary. Sensitivity analysis has been undertaken to test the 
resource forecast against more optimistic or pessimistic assumptions. For 
example, should  annual government funding reductions be 5% more than 
currently modelled, for 2016/17 to 2018/19, the budget gap would increase by 
£12m. Against this risk it is worth noting that the general fund reserve now 
stand at £20m. These and other general fund earmarked reserves have 
increased by nearly £30m over the past 2 years. 

 
4. Closing the Budget Gap 

 
4.1. Due to the funding pressures coming from central Government,  as outlined 

above, the council faces a continuing financial challenge. The budget gap will 
increase in each of the next four years if no action is taken to reduce 
expenditure or generate more income. 
 

4.2. In order to close the budget gap for 2015/16: 

• Corporate budgets have been subject to initial review and savings of 
£3.6m have been identified for 2015/16.   

• Departments were set savings targets based on their controllable 
budgets. 

 
The 2015/16 savings targets are summarised in Table 2.  

  
 
 

 

Page 26



Table 2 – Current Savings Targets by Department 
 

Department Savings 
Target 

 
£’000s 

Adult Social Care (6,568) 

Children’s Services (4,596) 

Environment, Leisure and Resident’s Services  (1,970) 

Libraries and Archives  (162) 

Finance and Corporate Services (3,124) 

Housing and Regeneration (982) 

Transport and Technical Services (3,887) 

Total Departmental Savings (21,289) 

Corporate Savings (3,589) 

Total All savings (24,878) 

 
4.3. In order to address the council’s projected budget gap for 2015/16, all 

departments have significant savings to find for 2015/16 (generally 9% of their 
controllable budget). The departments are currently developing their detailed 
savings proposals in consultation with Cabinet Members and are considering 
the level of risk associated with each proposal. It is anticipated that the 
proposals will be firmed up over the autumn, and areas with high risk are 
being prioritised for discussions in PAC meetings. 
 

4.4. The extent of the financial savings required across the council due to central 
government cuts means that delivery of the MTFS will be challenging and will 
need to be closely monitored. It is inevitable that difficult choices will need to 
be made. The following section of the report outlines the context for these 
difficult deliberations in relation to the departments covered by this Policy and 
Accountability Committee. 

 
5. Comments of the Executive Director for Environment, Leisure and 

Resident’s Services on the Budget Proposals 
 

5.1. The department’s net expenditure budget for 2014/15 is £31.1m. Within this 
sum are a number of areas over which the department has no control, 
including contributions to corporate services, premises and capital charges. 
These total £7.5m, meaning that the net controllable budget for the 
department is £23.6m for 2014/15, as set out in the table overleaf: 

 

 

 

 

 

  
 

Page 27



 Table 3 – ELRS Controllable budget 2014/15 
 

£k £k £k

Directorate Income Exp. Net

Waste and Street Enforcement (535) 20,717 20,182

Events, Filming, Lettings & Community Libraries (918) 552 (366)

Leisure & Parks (3,124) 5,112 1,989

Community Safety (743) 2,882 2,139

Emergency Planning and Transport (3,712) 3,299 (413)

Registrars, Street Markets, Commercial Waste & 

Ducting Concession
(4,154) 3,727 (427)

Finance & Resources 99 99

Departmental Management Team 0 418 418

Total ELRS Controlled Budgets (13,186) 36,805 23,619

Capital Charges 2,498 0 2,498

Support Service & Premises Costs 5,018 0 5,018

Total Corporately Managed Budgets 7,515 0 7,515

Total ELRS Budgets (5,670) 36,805 31,134  

5.2. In setting a medium term financial plan, savings targets were allocated to 
departments in proportion to their gross controllable expenditure budgets. As 
such ELRS was set a savings target of £1.970m for 2015/16. This is 
equivalent to 9% of the entire savings required by the Council and 
approximately 5% of the department’s gross controllable expenditure.  
 

5.3. Our priority when proposing budget reductions is to protect front line services 
as far as possible and so the majority of the proposed savings will be 
delivered through maximising external income and delivering services in a 
new way, either through transformational service reviews or renegotiating 
contracts and commissioning arrangements. 
 

5.4. ELRS has a record of managing financial pressures within the department 
instead of seeking growth funding. However the Department faces growth 
requirements in 2015/16 and beyond arising from the Western Riverside 
Waste Authority (WRWA) waste disposal contract. These come from 
increases in the costs of waste disposal and forecasts of trends in the waste 
disposal behaviour of residents. However, it is difficult to predict variable 
waste tonnages with any certainty due to a variety of social and economic 
reasons. ELRS has formed a waste innovation group that is working to pilot 
waste reduction initiatives across the borough with the aim of increasing 
recycling and driving down longer term waste disposal costs. After several 
years of declining general waste tonnages, the Council saw increases in 
2012/13 and 2013/14.  ELRS will be proposing £84k of budget growth to 
cover the expected financial pressure for 2015/16 and has provided additional 
indications of growth required for future years.  
 

5.5. Additional budget growth requests are made for the increased cost of the 
waste management and street cleansing contract (this was agreed in the 
2014/15 MTFS cycle). This is mostly offset by the negotiated contract price 
reduction referred to above. 
 

Page 28



5.6. A continued reduction in the Council’s vehicle fleet over a number of years 
has led to a budget gap of £100k in lost fleet management and repairs 
recharge income for the ELRS department and a reduction in corporate 
overheads for the Coroners and Mortuary services has reduced the amount of 
expenditure we can now recharge to  partner boroughs, again giving rise to a 
loss of income for ELRS. The resulting budget gaps are £100k and £89k 
respectively.  In previous years these could be absorbed by underspends in 
the waste disposal budget, but that is not expected to continue in 2015/16 
now that waste tonnages are increasing. 
 

5.7. Additional budget risk has been noted for some other specific LBHF services. 
£1.225m of risk exists should the full cost of Enhanced Policing in the borough 
not be met from confirmed external funding sources (it is assumed that this 
can be funded from s106 in 2015/16). Further risks exist in relation to potential 
changes to waste disposal legislation that may require boroughs to have 
separate waste collections for certain recyclable materials where it is 
technically, environmentally and economically practicable to do so. Additional 
waste collections would add to the waste contract costs for the borough. The 
proposed legislative changes are still under review. Similarly, major new 
developments in the borough could add to waste collection and disposal 
costs. ELRS will continue to work closely with the planning team to ensure 
that any additional significant demands on our services are factored into the 
planning considerations. 
 

6. Comments of the Executive Director for Transport and Technical 
Services on the Budget Proposals 
 

6.1. Transport and Technical Services (TTS) department has a total net budgeted 
income of £5.4m. Of this there are £7m of capital charges and corporate 
support service costs, which are not controlled by the department. The net 
controllable budget for TTS is therefore a contribution towards overheads of 
£12.4m. This is shown in the table below. 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 29



Table 4 – TTS Controllable budget 2014/15 

Directorate
Income

(£k)

Expenditure

(£k)

Net

(£k)

BUILDING & PROPERTY MANAGEMENT (5,195) 11,672 6,477

PLANNING (2,697) 3,275 578

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH (1,083) 3,207 2,125

TRANSPORT & HIGHWAYS (5,856) 8,557 2,701

SUPPORT SERVICES (24) (473) (497) 

PARKING (33,344) 9,567 (23,777) 

Total TTS Controllable Budgets (48,199) 35,805 (12,394) 

Capital Charges 11,519 11,519

Corporate Support Services (10,877) 6,375 (4,501) 

Total Corporately Managed Budgets (10,877) 17,894 7,018

Total TTS Budgets (59,076) 53,700 (5,376) 

Budget 2014-15

 

6.2. In setting a medium term financial plan, savings targets were allocated to 
departments in proportion to their gross controllable expenditure budgets. As 
such TTS was set a savings target of £3.065m for 2015/16. This is equivalent 
to 14% of the entire savings required by the Council and approximately 9% of 
the department’s gross controllable expenditure. 
 

6.3. TTS will be proposing savings of £3.887m, which exceed the original savings 
target of £3.065m by £0.822m  – necessary so that TTS can address budget 
pressures. These pressures are mainly due to budget reductions in previous 
years not proving feasible to be achieved in the ways originally envisaged. It 
is essential to balancing the TTS budget in 2015/16 that it can fund these 
pressures by making the additional savings. 

 
6.4. In identifying savings proposals TTS has a record of minimising the impact on 

services to the public and is aiming to continue to do that for 2015/16.  
 
Budget Risks 

 
6.5. Wifi Concession Income – Transport and Technical Services has an MTFS 

target of £0.3m per year for income from the letting of a concession to a 
telecoms company to install Wi-Fi equipment on Council assets.  For the first 
two years this target was met by the initial upfront payment made by the 
company.  By 2015/16 this will be used up and the Council will be reliant on a 
share of the variable income made by the company to meet the income target 
assumed in the budget. 

 
6.6. Advertising Hoardings Income – This can vary in accordance with the 

economic cycle. 
 

6.7. Parking Suspensions Income – This depends largely on the amount of 
property development going on in the borough. 

Page 30



 
6.8. Use of CCTV for parking enforcement – the Government is changing the 

law to prevent councils using CCTV to enforce parking restrictions (not 
Moving Traffic Offences) in some circumstances.  The impact is not yet clear 
although a sum has been set aside corporately to cover this risk. 

 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 
 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None    

 
 

 

Page 31



 

 London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT AND RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY AND ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE  
 

2 SEPTEMBER 2014 

REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT (RIPA)  
 

Report of the: Bi Borough Director of Law 
 

Open Report 
 
Classification - For Policy & Advisory Review & Comment 
 

Key Decision: Yes 
 

Wards Affected: All  
 

Accountable Executive Director: Jane West Executive Director (of Finance & 
Corporate Governance 
 

Report Author: Janette Mullins Principal Solicitor 
(Housing and Litigation) 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 8753 2744 
E-mail: janette.mullins@lbhf.gov.uk  
 

 
1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 
1.1. This is the annual report to the Committee resolved to give Members the 

opportunity to scrutinise the Council’s use of covert surveillance 
techniques and policies.  

 
1.2. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) provides a 

statutory framework for police and public authorities to use surveillance 
and communications data, where necessary and proportionate, for the 
purpose of preventing or detecting crime or preventing disorder.  The Act 
RIPA regulates the use of these powers in a manner that is compatible 
with the Human Rights Act. 

 
1.3. Officers have carried out a review of the RIPA policy and it is proposed 

that there be joint working arrangements with the Royal Borough of 
Kensington and Chelsea (RBKC) for the exercise of functions under RIPA.   

 
 
 

Page 32

Agenda Item 8



2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
2.1. That Members review and comment upon the draft joint RIPA policy 

including the use of surveillance not regulated by RIPA. 
 

 
3. REASONS FOR DECISION 

3.1. Officers have identified the possibility for more efficient working and a 
reduction in costs by combining their arrangements for authorising the use 
of surveillance and access to communication data.  A joint policy with a 
shared regime of oversight will assist enforcement officers working in Bi-
Borough services. 
 

3.2. The code of guidance published by the Secretary of State under section 
91 of RIPA advises local authority Members to review the use of the Act 
and set the policy. 

 
 
4. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

4.1. The Human Rights Act 1998 requires a public body to have respect for an 
individual’s private and family life in accordance with Article 8 of the 
European Convention on Human Rights.  This is a qualified human right 
and Article 8(2) provides that the right may be interfered with so long as it 
is done in accordance with the law and “is necessary in a democratic 
society in the interests of national security, public safety or the economic 
well-being of the country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the 
protection of health or morals, or for the protection of the rights and 
freedoms of others.”   

4.2. The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 introduced a process for 
balancing an individual’s rights with the authority’s obligations to enforce 
laws on behalf of the wider community. The Act makes all conduct carried 
out in accordance with an authorisation granted under the terms of the Act 
lawful “for all purposes”.  This is in effect a statutory defence to any claim 
by a resident that their rights, including human rights such as those under 
Article 8, have been breached.  The defence is only available if the 
surveillance is “necessary” and “proportionate” and has been approved by 
both a council authorising officer and a magistrate. 
 

4.3. Councils use RIPA to undertake directed surveillance and access 
communication data to detect and prevent crimes such as fraud, rogue 
Traders and anti-social behaviour. 
 
RIPA is separated into 2 parts: 
 
PART I Communications Data Access  

4.4. This allows Councils to access communications data from 
Communications Service Providers.  It does NOT allow for the interception 

Page 33



of communications (i.e. it enables the Council to seek information as to 
who someone is phoning, not what they say). 
 

4.5. Communications Service Providers (CSP’s) are anyone who provides a 
postal or telecommunications service e.g. Royal Mail, British Telecom, 
Vodafone, etc. 
 

4.6. Councils’ only have the power to acquire the following data from CSP’s 
• Billing, delivery and installation address 

• Contact telephone numbers 

• Periods of subscription use 

• Itemised telephone call records 

• Itemised records of connections to internet services 

• Provision, and use of forwarding/redirection services 

• Records of postal items, e.g. registered, recorded or special 

delivery postal items 

• Top up details for mobile phones, credit/debit card details and 

voucher top up details 

 
4.7. CSP’s will only respond to requests from Council’s via designated contacts 

who must have undertaken and passed a Home Office approved course.  
The Council signed up to use the NAFN (National anti-fraud network) 
SPOC service in October 2013. 

 
4.8. The Interception of Communications Commissioners Office (IOCCO) 

regulates Part I of RIPA.  There was an inspection on 21 January 2014. 

 

PART II – Direct Surveillance & Covert Human Intelligence Sources 

 
Directed Surveillance  

4.9. This refers to covert but not intrusive surveillance, and not an immediate 
response to events.  It is undertaken for a specific investigation or 
operation in a way likely to obtain private information about a person (any 
information relating to private or family life, interpreted broadly to include 
relationships with others). It must be necessary for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime or disorder and proportionate to what it 
seeks to achieve. 

 
4.10. Since November 2012 a Council can only authorise directed surveillance 

to prevent or detect criminal offences that are either punishable by at least 
6 months imprisonment or are related to the underage sale of various 
prohibited items.   This is known as the “crime threshold”.  

 
Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS)  

4.11. The practice of using an officer to establish or maintain a personal or other 
relationship with a person for the covert purpose of obtaining information, 
e.g. an officer who poses as a tenant to obtain information and evidence 
against a nuisance tenant. LBHF has never authorised the use of a CHIS.    

Page 34



 
4.12. The Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) regulates Part II of RIPA.  

There was an inspection on 25 June 2013. 
 
4.13. Since 1 November 2012 a Council, wanting to use directed surveillance, 

acquire communication data or use a CHIS is required to obtain an order 
approving the authorisation from a JP (District Judge or lay magistrate). 

 
4.14. Frequency of use of these powers: 

 

Directed Surveillance: 
2013    

Department: Authorising 

Officer  

Number of 

Applications 

Reason for 

use of RIPA  

Environment, 

Leisure and 

Residents 

Services: Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

Division 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

12 Covert CCTV 

cameras and 

Visual 

Surveillance to 

identify 

perpetrators of 

ASB, criminal 

damage and 

drug dealing 

Transport and 

Technical Services 

–Environmental 

health, Trading 

Standards 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

1 Age restricted 

products test 

purchasing 

Environment, 

Leisure and 

Residents 

Services: Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

Division 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

1 Theft from 

parking meters  

Jan – June 2014    

Environment, 

Leisure and 

Residents 

Services: Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

Division 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

5 Covert CCTV 

cameras and 

Visual 

Surveillance to 

identify 

perpetrators of 

ASB, criminal 

damage and 

drug dealing 

 

Environment, 

Leisure and 

Residents 

Services: Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

Division 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

1 Theft from 

parking meters  

 

Page 35



Communication Data: 
Department Authorising 

Officer  

Number of 

applications 

Reason for 

use of RIPA 

Finance and 

Corporate 

Services; 

Corporate Anti-

Fraud 

Director for Safer 

Neighbourhoods 

2 Investigation 

and 

prosecution 

relating to 

serious frau 

(business 

rates) 

 

 

4.15 All Authorising Officers attended refresher RIPA training on 23 June 2014.   

 
5. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

5.1. RIPA sets out the process of authorising and monitoring surveillance 
activity. The Home Office has prescribed forms for the granting, review, 
renewal and cancellation of authorisations.  Complying with RIPA involves 
a substantial commitment of resources by each Council.  Records of each 
authorisation, its grant, review, renewal and cancellation must be kept for 
three years and central register of authorisations and a register of officer 
training must be maintained.  A Senior Responsible Officer (SRO) must 
review all RIPA activity and every two years there is an inspection by the 
Office of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC). For a relatively few 
operations involving surveillance this does take a disproportionate amount 
of time.  It is hoped that by combining the two authorities’ arrangements 
we will reduce this.  The OSC inspector has endorsed greater assimilation 
of policy and practice between the two Councils and commented that each 
Council may gain from the experience of the other. 

 
5.2. It is therefore intended that the two Councils adopt the same policy and 

procedures for the use RIPA and non-RIPA (see 5.6 below) surveillance. 
The Bi-Borough Chief Solicitor will be the single SRO; five senior officers 
(three from LBHF and two from RBKC) will be Authorising Officers capable 
of granting authorisation to officers of either Council. A single central 
register will be maintained by Legal Services.  The draft joint policy  is 
attached at  Appendix 1  

 
5.3. The policy sets out how an investigating officer must apply for RIPA 

authorisation to one of five Authorising Officers.  The officer must set out 
the purpose of the investigation, the details of the operation (duration, 
methods, equipment and so on to be employed), the identities where 
known of the subject of the application, the  information  it is desired to  
obtain, the  offence to be prevented or detected, an explanation of why it is 
necessary, details of potential collateral intrusion (infringement of the 
privacy of people other than the intended subject) including precautions 
taken to avoid  collateral intrusion  and an explanation of why the 
application is proportionate to the aims of the operation. 

 

Page 36



5.4. The Authorising Officer is a senior person of at least Head of Service level, 
who is not connected with the operation.  He or she will consider the 
application and if satisfied that the requirements of the Act and the 
Council’s policy are met will authorise the application.  In doing so the 
Authorising Officer will record the who, where, what, when and how of the 
activity, set a date to review the operation.  The investigating officer will 
then apply to the Magistrates’ court for approval.  

 
5.5. None of the  authorisations made by  either  Council  has  so far been 

rejected  by a JP  which is a good indication that the  Councils are using 
the  powers  responsibly 

 
Non-RIPA Surveillance 

5.6. In certain circumstances, officers may wish to use surveillance techniques 
where the protection offered by RIPA is not available because the crime 
threshold is not met.  In such circumstances, by carefully considering 
exactly the same factors of necessity and proportionality which would be 
considered  before granting authorisation under RIPA,  the officers  can  
show  that their activity is lawful and necessary in terms  of the 
qualification in Article  8(2) of European Convention of Human Rights . 

 
5.7. Non-RIPA surveillance is most likely to be requested by officer’s 

investigation investigating anti-social behaviour, which can involve day –
today incidents such as vandalism, and noisy or abusive behaviour by 
neighbours.  Even what is perceived as ‘low level’ anti-social behaviour, 
when targeted and persistent, can have a devastating effect on a victim.  
In order to support victims it may be necessary to conduct surveillance that 
does not satisfy the serious crime threshold requirement of RIPA. In 
addition, the “Anti-Social Behaviour Policy and Procedures” aims to deter, 
abate and resolve racial harassment and anti-social behaviour in all its 
many guises to allow residents of the borough to live free from violence, 
disturbance and nuisance. 

 
5.8. The Non RIPA policy appears at page 25 of Appendix 1.  

 
6. OPTIONS AND ANALYSIS OF OPTIONS  

6.1. The current arrangements for RIPA are working satisfactorily. There have 
been no claims against either authority for breach of privacy whilst using 
covert surveillance and the OSC Inspector has not found any instances of 
non-compliance. However, the evolving nature of bi-borough enforcement 
activity in corporate services, audit, environmental health and other  
directorates will be improved by joined up  working on RIPA 

 
6.2. The new  joint policy clarifies the use of non-RIPA surveillance but  

otherwise does not contain any significant change to the Councils’ existing 
separate enforcement priorities and  policies 

 
7. CONSULTATION 

Page 37



7.1. The Cabinet Member for Community Safety in RBKC and the Cabinet 
Member for Residents Services and the Lead Member for Crime and Anti-
Social Behaviour in LBHF will be consulted. 

 
7.2. The Officers in both councils who currently authorise RIPA applications 

have been consulted and they support the recommendation.   
 

8. EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

8.1. The recommendations do not affect either Council’s equality duties. 
 

9. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

9.1. The legal implications are contained in the body of the report.  
 

10. FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

10.1. There are no financial implications for the purpose of this report.  
 
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1.    

 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
 
 
Appendix 1:  Draft Bi Borough Policy for use of RIPA  
 

Page 38



 

 1

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea  

 
 

 
 

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
 

POLICY  
 
 

Page Contents  

1 Introduction 

 Communication Data  

4 Direct Surveillance and Covert Human Intelligence Sources (CHIS) 

8 Authorisation Procedure  

11 Duration of Authorisations – Review, Renewal and Cancellation 

12 Central Record of Authorisations  

 Senior Responsible Officer  

 Reporting  

13 Handling and Disclosure of the Products of Materials 

 Policy for the Conduct of surveillance not authorised by RIPA  

14 CCTV 

 Training  

 Inspection and Oversight.  

 Further Guidance  

15 Appendix 1: Procedure of RIPA applications and seeking Judicial 
Approval 

25 Appendix 2:  Non RIPA policy  

28 Appendix 3: Forms  

 Appendix 4: S113 Agreement  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



 

 2

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (“RIPA”) provides a statutory 
framework for police and public authorities to use surveillance and 
communications data, where necessary and proportionate, for the purpose of 
preventing or detecting crime.  RIPA regulates the use of these powers in a 
manner that is compatible with the Human Rights Act. 
 

 The Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham use RIPA to undertake directed surveillance and access 
communications data in order to detect and prevent crimes such as fly-tipping 
offences under the trading standards legislation, drug dealing, and fraud.   
 
Whilst RIPA itself provides no specific sanction where an activity occurs which 
should otherwise have been authorised any evidence thereby obtained may be 
inadmissible in court. The activity may also be unlawful under the Human Rights 
Act and may result in an investigation by the Ombudsman and/or the 
Investigatory Powers Tribunal.      
 

This is a Bi Borough policy and where the term “the Council” is used it will apply 

to both the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and London Borough of 

Hammersmith & Fulham. 

 

RIPA provides that responsibility for authorising directed surveillance, use of a 
CHIS or acquisition of communication data lies with a ‘Director, Head of 
Service, Service Manager or equivalent.  (see page    for details) 
 
In Part 1 of RIPA this Officer is known as the “Designated Person” (DP) and in 
Part II as the “Authorising Officer” (AO). 
 

This policy must be read in conjunction with current Home Office guidance.    
 

COMMUNICATION DATA 

 
Part I of Chapter II of RIPA relates to the accessing of communications data from 
service providers. This section does NOT allow for the interception of 
communications (e.g. bugging of telephones etc). Local authorities are not 
permitted to intercept the content of any person’s communications and it is an 
offence to do so without lawful authority 
 
Who or What is a Communications Service Provider? 
 
Communications Service providers (CSP’s) are anyone who provides a service 
via a telecommunications network – a telephone communications network is the 

Page 40



 

 3

foundation of all telephonic communications be it voice, data, video or internet. 
Some of the more commonly known examples of service providers are 
companies such as British Telecom, EE, Vodaphone, etc. 
 
What is communications data? 
 
The term communications data embraces the ‘who’, ‘when’ and ‘where’ of 
communication but not the content. 
 
It includes the manner in which, and by what method, a person or machine 
communicates with another person or machine. It excludes what they say or 
what data they pass on with the communication. 
 
Communications data is generated, held or obtained in the provision delivery and 
maintenance of postal or telecommunications services.     
  
The Council only has power to acquire subscriber Information or service use data 
under Section 21(4)(b) and (c) of RIPA. 
 
Service use data S21 (4) (b) 
 
This includes: 

� Periods of subscription/use 
� Itemised telephone call records 
� Information about the provision of conference calling, call messaging, 

call waiting and call barring services   
� Itemised timing and duration of service usage (calls and /or 

connections)  
� Connection/Disconnection information 
� Itemised records of connections to internet services 
� Information about amounts of data downloaded and/or uploaded 
� Provision and use of forwarding/redirection services 
� Records of postal items e.g. registered, recorded or special delivery 

postal items 
� Top-up details for mobile phones - credit/debit card details and 

voucher/e-top up details 
 
 
Subscriber Information S21 (4) (c)  
This includes: 
 

� Name of account holder/ subscriber  
� Billing, delivery and installation address (es) 
� Contact telephone number(s) 
� Bill payment arrangements including bank/credit card details 
� Collection/delivery arrangements from a PO box  

Page 41



 

 4

� Services subscribed to by the customer  
� Other customer information such as any account notes, demographic 
information or sign up data (not passwords)   

 
Single Points of Contact 
 
Service Providers will only respond to requests from Local Authorities via 
designated single points of contact (SPoC) who must be trained and authorised 
to act as such. SPoC’s should be in a position to: 

� Advise applicants if their request is practicable for the service provider 
� Advise designated persons as to the validity of requests 
� Advise applicants and designated persons under which section of the Act 

communications data falls. 
 
The National Anti Fraud Network (NAFN) provides a SPoC service to the  
Council precluding the Council from the requirement to maintain their own trained 
staff and allowing NAFN to act as a source of expertise. All applications for 
Communication data must be submitted to NAFN who will assist and advise 
officers and submit the applications to the Designated Person for authorisation.   
 
Once the application has been approved by a Designated Person and Judicial 
Approval has been obtained NAFN, acting as SPOC, will serve a Notice on the 
relevant service provider requiring the service provider to obtain and provide the 
information.   
 
RIPA makes provision for the service providers to charge a fee for the provision 
of information requested and obtained under the Act. 
 

 

DIRECT SURVEILLANCE & COVERT HUMAN INTELLIGENCE SOURCES 

 
Part II of Chapter II RIPA deals with Direct Surveillance & Covert Human 

Intelligence Sources. It covers intrusive surveillance, directed surveillance and 

use and conduct of Covert Human Intelligence Sources (known as “CHIS”) who 

are more recognisable as agents, informants or undercover officers. The 

provisions aim to regulate the use of these investigative techniques and to 

prevent the unnecessary invasion of the privacy of individuals, essentially to a 

strike a balance between private and public rights. 

 
Surveillance 
 
Surveillance has a broad definition in the Act.  It includes: 
 

Page 42



 

 5

a)  Monitoring, observing or listening to persons, their movements, 
conversations or other activities or communication. “Persons” includes 
limited companies, partnerships and cooperatives as well as individuals.  

 
b)  Recording anything monitored, observed or listened to in the course of 

surveillance,  
 
c) Surveillance by or with the assistance of a surveillance device 

 
Covert Surveillance 
 
Covert surveillance is surveillance: 
 
“Carried out in a manner calculated to ensure that persons who are subject to the 
surveillance are unaware that it is taking place”. 
 
Surveillance which is carried out in the open and is not hidden from the persons 
being observed does not need to be authorised under RIPA.   
 
Intrusive Surveillance 
 
Local authorities can not carry out or authorise intrusive surveillance in any 
circumstances.  Intrusive surveillance is surveillance: 
 
a) carried out in relation to anything taking place on any residential premises 

or in any private vehicle; and  
 
b)  which involves the presence of an individual on the premises or in the 

vehicle or is carried out by means of a surveillance device; or  
 
c)  is carried out by means of a surveillance device in relation to anything 

taking place on any residential premises or in any private vehicle but is 
carried out without  that  device being present on the premises or in the 
vehicle, where the device is such that it consistently provides information 
of the same quality and detail as might be expected to be obtained from a 
device actually present on the premises or in the vehicle.  

 
Surveillance will not be intrusive if it is carried out by means of a surveillance 
device designed principally for the purpose of providing information about the 
location of a vehicle. 
 
Directed Surveillance 
 
RIPA provides that directed surveillance is surveillance, which is covert, and 
not intrusive and is undertaken: 
 

Page 43



 

 6

(a) For the purpose of a specific investigation or a specific operation 
 
(b) In such a manner likely to result in obtaining private information about any 

person (whether or not one specifically identified for the purposes of the 
investigation or operation); and 

 
(c) Otherwise than by way of an immediate response to events or circumstances 

where it would not be reasonably be practical for an authorisation to be 
sought. 

 
Private information is any information relating to a person’s private or family life 
including his or her relationships with others.  The term is broadly interpreted  
and may include business or professional activities.  The fact that covert 
surveillance is carried out in a public place or on business premises does not 
mean that it cannot result in obtaining personal information.   
 
When conducting covert test purchase operations at more than one 
establishment, it is not necessary to construct an authorisation for each premise 
to be visited but the intelligence must be sufficient to prevent “fishing trips”.  
Premises may be combined within a single authorisation provided that each is 
identified at the outset.  Necessity, proportionality and collateral intrusion must be 
carefully addressed in relation to each of the premises.  It is unlikely that 
authorisations will be considered proportionate without demonstration that overt 
methods have been attempted and failed. 
 
Surveillance Equipment 
 
At LBHF all mobile surveillance equipment is kept in a secure area, within a 
locked cabinet, in a locked room with cardex access. Access to the area is 
controlled by the Anti-Social Behaviour Unit, who maintain a spreadsheet log of 
all equipment taken from and returned to the area  
 
At RBKC’s a small range of hand held cameras are stored in a lockable cabinet 
adjacent to the Corporate Investigation Group’s team area. 
 
Covert Human Intelligence Sources (‘CHIS’)   
 
RIPA defines a person as a CHIS if: 
 
(a) S/he establishes or maintains a personal or other relationship with a 

person for the covert purpose of facilitating the doing of anything falling 
within paragraph (b) or (c) below; 

 
(b) S/he covertly uses such a relationship to obtain information or to provide 

access to any information to anther person; or 
 

Page 44



 

 7

(c) S/he covertly discloses information obtained by the use of such a 
relationship or as a consequence of the existence of such a relationship. 

 
A person who reports suspicion of an offence is not a CHIS and they do not 
become a CHIS if they are asked if they can provide additional information, e.g. 
details of the suspect’s vehicle or the time that they leave for work. It is only if 
they establish or maintain a personal relationship with another person for the 
purpose of covertly obtaining or disclosing information that they become a CHIS. 
 
The times when a local authority will use a CHIS are limited and it is Council 
policy not to do so.  But, it is recognised that the occasion may arise when a 
CHIS appears unexpectedly and has to be authorised and managed.  
Determining the status of an individual or organisation is a matter of judgement.  
Council Officers should avoid inducing individuals to engage in the conduct of a 
CHIS either expressly or implicitly without obtaining a CHIS authorisation. 
 
When a young person carries out a test purchase at a shop, he is unlikely to be 
construed as a CHIS on a single transaction but this would change if the juvenile 
revisits the same establishment in a way that encourages familiarity.  If covert 
recording equipment is worn by the test purchaser, or an adult is observing the 
test purchase, it will be desirable to obtain an authorisation for directed 
surveillance.  In all cases a prior risk assessment is essential in relation to a 
young person. 
 
If it is necessary to use a CHIS who is, or appears to be, under the age of 16: 

• written parental consent must be obtained prior to authorisation; and  

• the duration of such an authorisation is 1 month instead of the usual 12 
months, and  

• The Authorising Officer must be the Joint Chief Executive.   
 
Under no circumstances must a CHIS under the age of 16 be used to obtain 
information about their parent or guardian.   
 
Any deployment of a CHIS should take into account the safety and welfare of that 
CHIS. Before authorising the use or conduct of a CHIS, the Authorising Officer 
must ensure that an appropriate risk assessment is carried out to determine the 
risk to the CHIS of any assignment and the likely consequences should the role 
of the CHIS become known. The ongoing security and welfare of the CHIS, after 
the cancellation of the authorisation must also be considered at the outset. 
 
The processes for authorisations are the same as for surveillance (see below 
and appendix 2). 
 
 
In addition to the following arrangements must be in place at all times: 
 

Page 45



 

 8

(a) there must be an appropriate officer of the Council (“CHIS handler”) who 
has day-to-day responsibility for dealing with the CHIS, and for the 
security and welfare of the CHIS; and 

(b)  there must be a second appropriate officer of the Council who has 
general oversight of the use made of the CHIS, and who will have 
responsibility for maintaining a record of this use. (“CHIS controller”)These 
records must also include information prescribed by the Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers (Source Records) Regulations 2000.  

 
The  CHIS handler is responsible for bringing to the attention of the CHIS 
controller any concerns about the personal circumstances of the CHIS, insofar as 
they might affect the validity of the risk assessment, the conduct of the CHIS, and 
the safety and welfare of the CHIS. 
 
 
Any records that disclose the identity of the CHIS must not be available to 
anyone who does not have a need to access those records. 
 
 
AUTHORISATION PROCEDURE 
 
The Home Office has produced model forms to assist with the requirements of 
the authorisation process.  Copies of the forms are attached at Appendix 3.       
Authorisation must be obtained in relation to each separate investigation. 
 
All applications for authorisations, and the authorisations themselves, must be in 
writing.  
 
Judicial Approval 
 
The Authorisation does not take effect until the court has made an order 
approving the grant of the authorisation.  
 
The court has the power to refuse to approve the authorisation and to make an 
order quashing the authorisation. 
 
The Procedure for authorising RIPA applications and seeking Judicial Approval is 
at Appendix 1. 
 
Authorising Officers/ Designated Person. 
 
RIPA provides that responsibility for authorising directed surveillance, use of a 
CHIS or acquisition of communication Data lies, within a local authority, with an 
‘Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent.   
 

Page 46



 

 9

On    2014 the Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea and London Borough 
of Hammersmith and Fulham entered into an Agreement pursuant to Section 113 
of the Local Government Act 1972. Under the terms of this Agreement it is 
agreed that Officers employed by one borough are made available to the non 
employing borough for the purpose of authorising conduct under RIPA and 
conduct of a similar nature which is not regulated by the Act and any function 
incidental to the same. 
 
The Section 113 Agreement is at Appendix 4 
 
The following Officers are empowered to act as Authorised persons for 
applications for surveillance and CHIS, and as Designated Persons for 
applications for Communication data.   
 

• The Joint Chief Executive: Nicholas Holgate  

• Andy Hyatt – Tri Borough Head of Fraud  

• David Page: Bi Borough Director for Safer Neighbourhoods,  

• Claire Rai; Head Of Service, Safer Neighbourhoods  

• Ann Ramage:  Bi Borough Head of Environmental Health (Commercial)  

• Valerie Simpson:  Bi Borough Head of Environmental Health (Licensing 

and Trading Standards). 

 
Officers should not be responsible for authorising investigations in which they are 

directly involved. 

 
All Authorising Officers/Designated Persons must have current working 
knowledge of human rights principles, specifically those of necessity and 
proportionality,  
 
 
Confidential Information 
 
This consists of matters subject to legal privilege, confidential personal 
information or confidential journalistic material.  If the investigation is likely to 
obtain such information such information may be (will be?) monitored or 
observed  please seek urgent legal advice. 
 
Only the Joint Chief Executive can authorise a Confidential Information 
authorisation.  No other level of Authorising Officer/Designated Person  is 
permitted to sign such an authorisation. 
 
Necessity and Proportionality 
 
A local authority is required to show that an interference with an individual’s right 
to privacy is justifiable, to the extent that it is both necessary and 
proportionate. 

Page 47



 

 10 

 
Directed Surveillance can only be authorised where the Authorising Officer 
Person believes, in the circumstances of a particular case, that it is necessary 
for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or of preventing disorder and 
meets the “Crime Threshold” where the criminal offences being investigated 
meets one of the following conditions: 
 

• The criminal offences, whether on summary conviction or on indictment, are 
punishable by a maximum term of at least 6 months imprisonment  

or 
An offence under: 

• S146 of the Licensing Act 2003 ( sale of alcohol to children) 

• S147 of the Licensing Act 2003 (allowing the sale of alcohol to children) 

• S147A of the Licensing Act 2003 (persistently selling alcohol to children) 

• Section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (sale of tobacco, 
etc to persons under 18). 

 
To authorise the use of a CHIS or to obtain communication data the Authorising 
Officer/Designated Person must believe it is necessary for the purpose of 
preventing and detecting crime or of preventing disorder. 
 
Proportionality is a key concept of RIPA. The Authorising Officer/Designated 
Person must also believe that the directed surveillance or use of a CHIS is 
proportionate to what it is sought to achieve.  In effect, any intrusion into 
individual’s privacy should be no more than is absolutely necessary.   
 
The authorisation should demonstrate how an Authorising Officer/Designated 
Person has reached the conclusion that the activity is proportionate to what it 
seeks to achieve; including an explanation of the reasons why the method, tactic 
or technique proposed is not disproportionate (the proverbial 'sledgehammer to 
crack a nut'). 
. 
The following elements of proportionality should be considered: 

• balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the gravity 
and extent of the perceived crime or offence; 

• explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the least 
possible intrusion on the subject and others; 

• considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation 
and a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, of 
obtaining the necessary result; 

• evidencing, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods had 
been considered and why they were not implemented 

 
 
 
 

Page 48



 

 11 

Collateral Intrusion 
 
As part of this process an assessment should be made of the risk of what is 
termed ‘collateral intrusion’ - intrusion into the privacy of persons other than 
those that are the subjects of investigation.  Measures should be taken, wherever 
possible, to avoid or minimise unnecessary intrusion into the lives of those not 
directly connected with the investigation. 
 
If collateral intrusion is inevitable, publication of the material/evidence obtained 
must be carefully controlled.  If the evidence is used in court proceedings, if may 
be possible to deal with collateral intrusion by editing 
 
 
DURATION OF AUTHORISATIONS – REVIEW, RENEWAL AND 
CANCELLATION 
 
Directed Surveillance and CHIS 
 
An authorisation for directed surveillance will last 3 months unless cancelled or 
renewed and must be cancelled when no longer necessary or proportionate. 
 
An authorisation for use of a CHIS will last 12 months unless cancelled or 
renewed and should similarly be cancelled when no longer necessary or 
proportionate.  In cases where a CHIS is under 16 the authorisation must  last for 
only 1 month.  
 
Regular reviews of all authorisations must be undertaken to assess the need for 
the directed surveillance or use of a CHIS to continue.  The results of the review 
should be recorded on the central register (see below). 
 
Authorisations can be renewed before the date on which they would cease to 
have effect provided that they continue to meet the relevant criteria.  Judicial 
approval is required for a renewal. The renewal takes effect on the day on which 
the authorisation would have expired and continues for a 3 or 12-month period 
according to the type of activity.  Details in relation to any renewal should also be 
included in the central register. 
 
An Authorising Officer must cancel an authorisation if he or she is satisfied that 
the activity no longer meets the criteria on which it was based.  As before, details 
of this should be recorded in the central register. 
 
 
Communication data 
 
Authorisations and notices for Communication Data will be valid for a maximum 
of one month from the date of Judicial approval. This means that the conduct 

Page 49



 

 12 

authorised should have been commenced or the notice served within that month.  
All authorisations and notices must relate to the acquisition or disclosure of 
information for a specific date or period. 
 
Applications can be renewed before the date on which they would cease to have 
effect provided that they continue to meet the relevant criteria.  Judicial approval 
is required for all renewals.  The renewal takes effect on the day on which the 
authorisation would have expired and continues for a 1 month period.   
 
Renewal may be appropriate where there is a continuing requirement to acquire 
or obtain data that will or may be generated in the future. The reasoning for 
seeking renewal should be set out by an applicant in an addendum to the 
application on which the authorisation or notice being renewed was granted or 
given. 
 
 
CENTRAL RECORD OF AUTHORISATIONS 
 
The Council must hold a centrally retrievable record of all applications that must 
be retained for a period of at least 3 years from the ending of an authorisation.  
This should include the unique reference number (‘URN’) of the investigation and 
details of the authorisation, review, cancellation and any renewal.  The date of 
the court order approving the application will also be recorded in the central 
register.  
 
The central record is maintained by Andre Jaskowiak, Senior Solicitor.  Copies of 
all relevant documentation relating to applications should therefore be emailed to  
andre.jaskowiak@rbkc.gov.uk. 
  
SENIOR RESPONSIBLE OFFICER (SRO) 

 

The Act also requires the Council to have a SRO who is responsible for ensuring 

compliance with the Act and Code of Guidance and the integrity of the process in 

place within the authority to acquire communications data. The Chief Solicitor 

and Head of Regeneration Law, LeVerne Parkeracts as the SRO for the Council.  

 

The SRO may, after consultation with the Designated Persons /Authorising 

Officers, make changes to this policy or to the list of Designated 

Persons/Authorising Officers, as she considers appropriate.  

 

REPORTING 
 
The SRO will report on the use of RIPA annually to Members. 

 

 

Page 50



 

 13 

 
HANDLING AND DISCLOSURE OF MATERIALS AND DOCUMENTS 

The Authorising Officer/Designated Person should retain RIPA related 
documents for a period of 3 years. However, where it is believed that the records 
could be relevant to pending or future criminal proceedings, they should be 
retained for a suitable further period, commensurate to any subsequent review.  

 
CCTV  
 
The general usage of the Council’s CCTV system is not affected by this policy. 
However, if Council officers want to use the Council’s CCTV cameras for covert 
surveillance covered by RIPA then they must have a RIPA authorisation.  The 
Police, Transport for London (TfL) and the Kensington & Chelsea Tenant 
Management Organisation (TMO) are the only  other organisations  the Council  
permit  to use  Council  CCTV for  RIPA  purposes.  The TMO must liaise with an 
officer of the Council  who  will manage, and be responsible for the surveillance  
aspect of the operation and apply  for authorisation in the usual way. 
 
Where the Police wish to use the Council’s CCTV system for their own purposes, 
they shall seek their own RIPA authorisation in accordance with Sections 28 or 
29 of the Act.  The investigating officer will produce a copy of the authorisation to 
the CCTV Manger who will keep a log of all Police URNs. 
 
 
POLICY FOR THE CONDUCT OF SURVEILLANCE NOT AUTHORISED BY 
RIPA 
 
Following the introduction of the “serious crime threshold” the Council can no 
longer use directed surveillance in some cases where it was previously 
authorised. But, this does not mean that it will not be possible to investigate 
these areas with a view to stopping offending behaviour. The statutory RIPA 
Code of Practice on covert surveillance makes it clear that routine patrols, 
observation at trouble ‘hotspots’, immediate response to events and overt use of 
CCTV are all techniques which do not require RIPA authorisation 
 
It is recognised that in order to protect residents from anti-social behaviour it may 
be necessary for the Council to conduct covert surveillance that does not satisfy 
the serious crime threshold and cannot be authorised by RIPA.   For example, 
graffiti, criminal damage and urinating in public areas can have a real impact on 
the residents. On rare occasions, it may also be necessary for the Council to 
conduct covert surveillance when carrying out a Disciplinary Investigation of an 
employee.   
 
All such surveillance must be carried out in accordance with the Council Policy 
for the Conduct of Surveillance Not Authorised by RIPA at Appendix 2 

Page 51



 

 14 

 
 
TRAINING 
 
Officers conducting surveillance operations, using a CHIS or acquiring 
communications data must have an appropriate accreditation or be otherwise 
suitably qualified or trained. Authorising Officers will have received 
training that has been approved by the SRO .  
All training will take place at reasonable intervals to be determined by the  but it 
is envisaged that an update will usually be 
necessary following legislative or good practice developments, or otherwise 
every 12 months 
 
THE INSPECTION PROCESS AND OVERSIGHT 
 
The Interception Of Communication Commissioner Office (IOCCO) is 
required to keep the performance of functions under Part I of the Act under 
review.  
 
Office Of Surveillance Commissioners (OSC) keeps the performance of 
functions under Part II of the Act under review and makes periodic inspections 
during which the inspector will wish to interview a sample of key personnel; 
examine RIPA and CHIS applications and authorisations; the central register and 
policy documents. The inspector will also make an evaluation of processes and 
procedures 
 
 
FURTHER GUIDANCE 
 
This policy must be read in conjunction with current Home Office guidance.  .  
 
Full Codes of Practice can be found on the Home Office website 
 
http://www.homeoffice.gov.uk/counter-terrorism/regulation-investigatory-powers 
 
 
Further information is also avialable on The Office of Surveillance 
Commissioners website. 
http://www.surveillancecommissioners.gov.uk/index.html 
 
 
July 2014 
 

Page 52



 

 15 

 
 
 
Appendix 1 
 
PROCEDURE FOR AUTHORISING RIPA APPLICATIONS AND SEEKING 
JUDICIAL APPROVAL 
 
From 1 November 2012 Judicial approval is needed for ALL RIPA 
applications/authorisations and notices.  
 
 
The government introduced this requirement to put a statutory check on local 
authorities and to ensure that powers are only used to stop serious crime. 
 
1 DIRECTED SURVEILLANCE: CRIME THRESHOLD 
 
We can only authorise the use of directed surveillance for the following 
purposes: 
 

• To prevent or detect criminal offences:  
o that are punishable, whether on summary conviction or on 

indictment, by a maximum term of at least 6 months 
imprisonment (See page 5 for examples)  

OR  
o that relate to underage sale of alcohol and tobacco under the 

following legislation: 

• S146 of the Licensing Act 2003 ( sale of alcohol to children 

• S147 of the Licensing Act 2003 (allowing the sale of alcohol to 
children) 

• S147A of the Licensing Act 2003 (persistently selling alcohol 
to children) 

• Section 7 of the Children and Young Persons Act 1933 (sale of 
tobacco, etc to persons under 18) 

 
We cannot authorise the use of directed surveillance for the purpose of 
preventing disorder unless this involves a criminal office, whether on summary 
conviction or on indictment, punishable by a maximum term of at least 6 months 
imprisonment.  (E.g  Affray).  
 
On the RIPA Application form you must: 

1 State you are investigating a criminal offence; and .  
2 Identify the relevant offence and statute which either punishable with 6 

months imprisonment or is related to underage sales of alcohol or 
tobacco. 

 

Page 53



 

 16 

 
Note: that if it becomes clear during an investigation the activity being 
investigated does not amount to a criminal offence or that it would be a less 
serious offence that does not meet the Crime threshold the authorisation must 
be cancelled. 
 
Lesser Offences 
 
In a case where the surveillance has been authorised to investigate a specific 
offence which meets the threshold but the evidence obtained is used to 
substantiate offences which fall under below the threshold it will be up to the 
court to decide whether to admit the evidence obtained  
 
CHIS/ COMMUNICATION DATA 
 
Conduct or use of a CHIS and obtaining communication data can only be 
authorised where it is necessary for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime 
or of preventing disorder. 
 
 
To obtain legal advice call Bi Borough Legal Services for advice:  
Janette Mullins, Principal Solicitor (Housing and Litigation): 
020 8753 2744 

Andre Jaskowiak, Senior Solicitor, Bi-Borough Contract Law Team: 

 020 7361 2756 
 
2 PROCEDURE  
 

• Obtain URN from .Andre Jaskowiak 
 

• Submit RIPA application and Authorisation to appear in the Magistrates 
Court to Authorising Officer/Designated Person  
 

o Andy Hyatt – Tri Borough Head of Fraud  
o David Page: Bi Borough Director for Safer Neighbourhoods,  
o Claire Rai; Head Of Service, Safer Neighbourhoods  
o Ann Ramage:  Bi Borough Head of Environmental Health 

(Commercial)  

o Valerie Simpson:  Bi Borough Head of Environmental Health 

(Licensing and Trading Standards). 

 

• If approval is granted the form to be signed and dated but the 
authorisation will not be activated until judicial approval is obtained  
 

Page 54



 

 17 

• Complete FORM ANNEX B  
This will contain a brief summary of the circumstances of the case but the 
RIPA authorisation form must contain all the information necessary to 
make application.  

 

• Telephone the court: either Rosie SILVESTER or Nazia KHAN ( Court 
applications department) 020 8700 9345 or 020 8700 9383. Arrange with 
them a date/time to attend. The application will be heard by a district judge 
in chambers. 

 
Court details: 

 
Hammersmith Magistrates court 181 Talgarth Road, London,W6 8DN  to 
arrange a hearing: 
Listing Officer: 020 8700 9350 
List Office Fax: 020 8700 9344 
GL-WestLondonMCenq@hmcts.gsi.gov.uk 
 

• Applications will usually be heard at Hammersmith Magistrates  at 
10:00am and you must be at court by 9:30am to allow the Legal Adviser to 
check the application before it goes to court.  Go to Court Office on ground 
floor and explain you have a RIPA Judicial Approval Application. 
 

 

• Take with you: 
 

1 Original and copy of RIPA Authorisation form 

2 Copy of authority to make application. 

3 2 copies of partly completed Form Annex B  

 

• Hearing 
 

• Sign in with Usher; give him/her the above documents; explain a RIPA 
Judicial approval application and if you wish to swear on oath or Affirm.  
Stand in witness box 
 

• Take, oath or Affirm; identify yourself, name, post, employer 

• Explain you are the investigating officer who has made application to 
AO 

• Identify , the AO, Name and post and give date of authorisation. 

• State that you wish to obtain Judicial Approval for Directed 
Surveillance under S38 Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and that you 
have partly completed Form Annex B . 

• The Magistrate will consider the following matters:  
 
(a)  that the person who granted the authorisation was entitled to do so;  

Page 55



 

 18 

(b)  for directed surveillance that the application meets the crime 
threshold test.  

(c) that at the time the authorisation was granted there were 
reasonable grounds for believing that the surveillance described in 
the authorisation was—  
(i) Necessary, for the purpose of preventing or detecting crime or 
of preventing disorder 
(ii) Proportionate to what was sought to be achieved by it; and  

(d) that there remain reasonable grounds for believing those things, at 
the time the court considers the application. 

 

• Necessity and Proportionality 
 
It is still the case that the Authorising Officer must be satisfied that the 
surveillance is necessary for the purpose of “the prevention or detection of crime 
or the prevention of disorder”.  This goes beyond the prosecution of offences and 
includes actions taken to prevent, end or disrupt the commission of criminal 
offences.  But before authorising surveillance the Authorising Officer must be 
satisfied that officers are investigating an identifiable criminal offence. 
 
The guidance for Magistrates states authorisation will not be proportionate if it is 
excessive in the overall circumstances of the cases.  The fact that a suspected 
offence may be serious will not alone justify surveillance.  
 
No activity should be considered proportionate if the information which is sought 
could be reasonably obtained from other less intrusive means.  The risk and 
proportionality of interfering with the privacy of people not connected with the 
investigation must also be weighed and, where possible, steps taken to mitigate 
it. 
 
The Magistrates’ guidance suggests that following element of proportionality 
should be considered: 
 

• Balancing the size and scope of the proposed activity against the 
gravity of extent of the perceived crime or offence: 

• Explaining how and why the methods to be adopted will cause the 
least possible intrusion on the subject and others; 

• Considering whether the activity is an appropriate use of the legislation 
and a reasonable way, having considered all reasonable alternatives, 
of obtaining the necessary result; 

• Recording, as far as reasonably practicable, what other methods have 
been considered and why they were not implemented.   

 
3 Outcome 

 

• Application granted and will be effective from date of order. 

Page 56



 

 19 

• Application refused  

• Application refused AND quash authorisation – but must give the 
Council  at least 2 days notice from date of refusal to allow us to make 
representations.  

 
Court will keep 1 copy of Annex form B and 1 copy of Application. 
 

• Provide Andre Jaskowiak with a copy of Authorisation form and a copy 
of Annex B within 5 days of approval. 

 

• Note review date and provide copy of review/and or cancellation to 
Andre Jaskowiak.  

 
 

Page 57



 

 20 

COUNCIL LOGO  
 
 
 
 

AUTHORISATION TO APPEAR IN THE MAGISTRATES 

COURT  

 

I,  Name, job title  and council of authorising officer (“the Council”)  am authorised 
by the Executive and the Council as recorded in Part Three of the Constitution of 
the Council to authorise applications under Parts I and II of the Regulatory of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 Act  (RIPA). 
 

And by the power vested in me 

 I Hereby authorise  

Name of Officer, Job Title M. 
 

To make application to the Magistrates’ court for judicial approval of RIPA  

authorisations for directed surveillance/communication data (delete as 

appropriate) on behalf of the Council pursuant to Section 223 of the Local 

Government Act 1972. 

 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Name and Job title of authorising officer 
 
 
_____________________________ (Signature of the person authorised) 
 
 
 
DATED MMMMMMMMMMM.. 
 
 
 

Page 58



 

 21 

ANNEX B  

 
Application for judicial approval for authorisation to obtain or disclose 
communications data, to use a covert human intelligence source or to 
conduct directed surveillance. Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 
sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B. 

Local 

authority:...................................................................................................................................................

............ 

Local authority 

department:.......................................................................................................................................... 

O ffence under 

investigation:........................................................................................................................................ 

Address of premises or identity of 

subject:................................................................................................................ 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

 
Covert technique requested: (tick one and specify details) 

Com m unications D ata  

Covert H um an Intelligence Source 

D irected Surveillance 

 

Summary of details  

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

N ote: this application should be read in conjunction with the attached RIPA 

authorisation/RIPA application or notice. 

Page 59



 

 22 

 
Investigating 

O fficer:..................................................................................................................................................... 

Authorising O fficer/Designated 

Person:................................................................................................................... 

O fficer(s) appearing before 

JP:..................................................................................................................................... 

Address of applicant 

department:................................................................................................................................ 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

Contact telephone 

number:.......................................................................................................................................... 

Contact email address 

(optional):................................................................................................................................ 

Local authority 

reference:............................................................................................................................................. 

Number of 

pages:.........................................................................................................................................................

.. 

Page 60



 

 23 

 

Order made on an application for judicial approval for authorisation to 
obtain or disclose communications data, to use a covert human 
intelligence source or to conduct directed surveillance. Regulation of 
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 sections 23A, 23B, 32A, 32B. 

 
M agistrates’ 

court:......................................................................................................................................................... 

 
Having considered the application, I (tick one): 

am satisfied that there are reasonable grounds for believing that the requirements of 

the Act were satisfied and remain satisfied, and that the relevant conditions are 

satisfied and I therefore approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice. 

refuse to approve the grant or renewal of the authorisation/notice. 

refuse to approve the grant or renewal and quash the authorisation/notice. 

 

Notes 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

Reasons 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

Page 61



 

 24 

....................................................................................................................................................................

....................... 

 
Signed: 

Date: 

Time: 

Full name: 

Address of magistrates’ court: 

 

 

Page 62



 

 25 

 Appendix 2:  
 
POLICY FOR THE CONDUCT OF SURVEILLANCE NOT AUTHORISED BY 

THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 
 
 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham 
and 

Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea 
 

 
POLICY FOR THE CONDUCT OF SURVEILLANCE NOT AUTHORISED BY 

THE REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 
 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (‘RIPA’) provides a statutory 
framework for the conduct of directed surveillance.  It is applicable to local 
authorities in respect of some of the activities in which they may engage and sets 
out formal authorisation procedures and codes of practices, with which local 
authorities should comply.   
 
The Act must be considered in tandem with associated legislation including the 
Human Rights Act (HRA), and the Data Protection Act (DPA) 
 
The Councils have a RIPA policy which is periodically reviewed by Members.   
 
The purpose of RIPA is to protect the privacy rights of local residents but only to 
the extent that those rights are protected by the HRA.  However, a Council may 
only engage the Act when performing its ‘core functions’. For example, a Local 
Authority conducting a criminal investigation would be considered a ‘core 
function’, whereas the disciplining of an employee would be considered a ‘non-
core’ or ‘ordinary function. 
 
In addition surveillance may only be authorised under RIPA when investigating 
criminal offences which are punishable by a maximum term of at least 6 months 
imprisonment  (“the serious crime threshold”).   
 
The council has an obligation to deal with Anti-social behaviour (ASB) which 
involves the day-to-day incidents of crime, nuisance and disorder that make 
many people’s lives a misery. This varies from vandalism, to public drunkenness 
or aggressive dogs, to noisy or abusive neighbours.  
 
The Victims of ASB can feel helpless and in many cases, the behaviour is 
targeted against the most vulnerable in our society. Even what is perceived as 
‘low level’ anti-social behaviour, when targeted and persistent, can have 
devastating effects on a victim’s life . 
 

Page 63



 

 26 

  
To enable the Council to support victims it is recognised that it may be necessary 
for the Council to conduct covert Surveillance that does not satisfy the serious 
crime threshold and cannot be authorised by RIPA.   
 
In addition the Council as Licensing Authority’ may need to carry out surveillance 
of licensed premises in order to promote the four licensing objectives, within 
licensed 
 
On rare occasions it may also be necessary for the Council to conduct covert 
surveillance when carrying out a Disciplinary Investigation of an employee.   
 
When considering covert surveillance that is outside of RIPA the Council will, 
none the less, have regard to the Council’s RIPA policy, the Directed 
Surveillance Code of Practice and the OSC Procedures and guidance.  
 
Surveillance must not be authorised under this policy if there is any likelihood of 
acquiring confidential information.  
 
 
 
PROCEDURE 
 
 

• A Council Officer seeking to carry out surveillance outside of RIPA will 
complete the form attached to this policy  

 

• In completing the form the officer will have regard to the Council’s RIPA 
policy and address the issues of Necessity and Proportionality and 
“collateral intrusion”. 
 

• The form must be passed to a Council Authorising Officers who is 
empowered to authorise applications made by staff of  both Councils. 
 

• The Authorising Officer will consider the application and will decide 
whether or not to authorise the surveillance applying the principles set out 
in the RIPA Policy. 
 

• The Non RIPA surveillance must not begin before the date the application 
is signed by the Authorising Officer. 
 

• The authorised application form must be forwarded to the Bi-Borough 
Legal Services  RIPA co – coordinator Andre Jaskowiak Senior Solicitor,  
(andre.jaskowiak@rbkc.gov.uk)  who will keep a central record of all Non 
RIPA surveillance.   
 

Page 64



 

 27 

• A monthly review of the authorisation will be conducted to assess the 
need for the surveillance to continue.  The Officer with conduct of the 
surveillance will submit a review form to the Authorising Officer. The 
results of the review should be recorded on the central register 
 

• Non RIPA surveillance will last 3 months unless cancelled or renewed 
and must be cancelled when no longer necessary or proportionate.   
 

• An Authorising Officer must cancel an authorisation if he or she is satisfied 
that the activity no longer meets the criteria on which it was based.   
 

• The Director of Law in conjunction with the RIPA Coordinator is 

responsible for ensuring compliance with this procedure and will report on 

the use of Non  RIPA surveillance annually to Members. 

 

July 2014 

 

Page 65



 

 28 

Appendix 3 Forms 

Page 66



 

 29 

Section 113 Agreement 

Page 67



 

 

 

 

London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

COMMUNITY SAFETY, ENVIRONMENT & RESIDENTS 
SERVICES POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY COMMITTEE 

 
2ND SEPTEMBER 2014 

SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP) 

Report of the Bi-Borough Executive Director for Transport and Technical Services 

Open report 

Classification:   For Scrutiny Review & Comment 

Key decision:    No 

Wards Affected:    All 

Accountable Executive Director:  
Nigel Pallace – Bi-Borough Executive Director for Transport and Technical Services 

Report Author:  
George Warren - Flood Risk Manager 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 0208 753 6991 
E-mail: george.warren@lbhf.gov.uk 

 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1. This report provides a summary of the Surface Water Management Plan 
(SWMP). The SWMP establishes a long-term action plan to manage surface 
water in the Borough and should influence future capital investment, drainage 
maintenance, public engagement and understanding, land-use planning, 
emergency planning and future developments. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the Committee review the report and comment on its contents to the 
Cabinet Member for Environment, Transport and Residents Services and the 
Executive Director for Transport and Technical Services.  

3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND 

3.1. Following the disastrous 2007 floods, which affected 55,000 homes 
throughout the country, including many incidents within Hammersmith and 
Fulham, the government commissioned Sir Michael Pitt to undertake a review 
to ensure that it didn’t occur again. One of the key findings of the Pitt Review 

Page 68

Agenda Item 9



 

 

was that there was a pressing need to tackle surface water flooding and it 
suggested that local bodies be established who would be responsible for 
overseeing surface water flooding and to promote Sustainable Drainage 
Systems (SuDS) on a localised scale.  

3.2. In response to this the Flood and Water Management Act (2010) was 
released which restructured the way flooding was managed within the UK, 
creating Lead Local Flood Authorities (LLFA) to manage all localised flooding 
issues. The London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham Council were made 
the LLFA for the borough, which included a number of new responsibilities.  
As part of these new responsibilities, the SWMP was prepared to provide an 
understanding of the current risk and how this can be mitigated as well as 
provide the information for the reports and plans that we are required to 
produce under our duties as the Lead Local Flood Authority such as the Local 
Flood Risk Management Strategy and the Flood Risk Management Plan. 

3.3. The SWMP builds upon previous work undertaken as part of the Drain 
London, a project set up by the GLA in response to the Mayor’s Regional 
Flood Risk Appraisal, Tier 1 and Tier 2 packages of works. It has been 
undertaken following a four phase approach (as outlined in the Department for 
Environment, Food & Rural Affairs (DEFRA) SWMP Technical Guidance, 
March 2010); Phase 1 – Preparation; Phase 2 – Risk Assessment; Phase 3 – 
Options; and Phase 4 – Implementation and Review.   

3.4. The SWMP outlines the preferred surface water management strategy in the 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham. In this context surface water 
flooding describes flooding from sewers, drains, groundwater, and runoff from 
land, ordinary watercourses and ditches that occurs as a result of heavy 
rainfall. The SWMP has been produced by external consultants (Capita URS) 
in consultation with key local partners who are responsible for surface water 
management and drainage in the London area, including Thames Water and 
the Environment Agency. 

3.5. The SWMP includes direct rainfall modelling across the entire borough for 
eight specified return periods, this also includes the impact from the limited 
capacity of the sewers in the borough. The results of this modelling have been 
used to identify Local Flood Risk Zones (LFRZs) where flooding affects 
houses, businesses and/or infrastructure.  Those areas identified to be at 
more significant risk have been delineated into Critical Drainage Areas 
(CDAs) representing one or several LFRZs as well as the contributing 
catchment area and features that influence the predicted flood extent.  Within 
the London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham, 15 CDAs have been 
identified.  

3.6. The SWMP modelling, report and figures have been finalised by the 
consultants and the project results are awaiting approval from Council prior to 
final public consultation and then adoption by LBHF. 

Outputs of the SWMP 

3.7. The SWMP hydraulic modelling, which was undertaken using TUFLOW 
software, is currently being reviewed by external experts (BMT-WBM) 
however initial feedback suggests that the model is representative. The 

Page 69



 

 

results of this review should be received prior to the 2nd September and will be 
reported to the PAC at the meeting.  

3.8. The scale of flooding has been classified as follows, from smallest to largest: 

• Local Flood Risk Zones (LFRZs) – these are the actual spatial extents of 
predicted flooding in single locations, managed at a local scale and 
include specific roads, schools and hospitals (27 identified within LBHF). 

• Critical Drainage Areas (CDAs) – denote an area or catchment where 
mitigation measures may be implemented to reduce flooding experienced 
in the flood risk zone (15 identified within LBHF).  

• Policy Area (PA) – cover one or more CDAs and are primarily based on 
hydrological catchments. Given the complex and interlinked surface 
water flooding within LBHF, it has been agreed that only one Policy Area 
should be defined covering the entire administrative area. 

• Indicative Flood Risk Area – defined by the Environment Agency / 
DEFRA primarily for the purposes of the preparation of the PFRAs. The 
GLA has been identified as an Indicative Flood Risk Area. 

3.9. Some of the key outputs from the SWMP study include: 

• A 106 page detailed report  

• Surface Water Flood Depth Figures for a variety of modelled return 
periods (10%, 5%, 3.3%, 2%, 1.3%, 1%, 1% + Climate Change, 0.5% 
and 0.1% Annual Exceedence Probability) 

• Surface Water Flood Hazard Figures for a variety of modelled return 
periods (same as above) 

• Quantitative assessment of the number of properties at risk of flooding 
was undertaken for each CDA and for the Borough as a whole. The 0.5% 
AEP rainfall event was used to inform this assessment, as specified by 
the Drain London Data and Modelling Framework. The Borough-wide 
assessment is provided in Table 1. 

• Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) Option Assessment Tables for 
the different CDAs, to identify what SuDS might be appropriate in each 
CDA 

• Action Plan, identifying 54 actions that could help to improve the risk of 
flooding from surface water within the borough. Table 2 lists the high 
priority actions identified within the SWMP which are proposed to be 
undertaken within the short to medium term. 

  

Page 70



 

 

 

Property Type Sub Category 
No. of 
properties 
flooded > 0.1m 

No. of 
properties 
flooded > 0.5m 

Infrastructure 

Essential Infrastructure 3 0 

Highly Vulnerable 3 0 

More Vulnerable 9 0 

Households 

20% Most Deprived 1,563 426 

20-40% Most Deprived 4,503 1,120 

60% Least Deprived 2,477 511 

Commercial/Industrial Commercial/Industrial (All) 1,210 205 

 TOTAL 9,770 1,262 

Table 1 – Borough-Wide Summary of Flood Risk for 0.5% AEP Rainfall Event 

Recommendations 

1 
Continue to work towards fulfilling the requirements under the Flood and Water 
Management Act 2010 and Flood Risk Regulation 2009 

2 
Establish a Flood Risk Management Group for the LBHF (as LLFA) to take forward 
FWMA and SWMP actions and Local Flood Risk Management. 

3 
Ensure required skills and technical capability is in place to deliver FWMA 2010 / 
FRR 2009 requirements  

4 
Actively engage with members of the public regarding local flood risk management 
and formulation of the LFRM Strategy.      

5 
Implement a standardised Flood Incident Log to record and investigate future 
flooding incidents within the LBHF   

6 
Work with Thames Water Utilities Ltd. to identify where areas of surface water and 
sewer flooding coincide. 

7 
Work with the Environment Agency to record and investigate groundwater flooding 
incidents and mechanisms. 

8 
Actively engage with professional stakeholders to communicate findings of SWMP 
and local flood risk management. 

9 
Design and gain buy-in to a Communication and Engagement Plan to identify how 
to effectively communicate and raise awareness of local flood risk to different 
audiences. 

10 
Consider and implement options for installation of tree planters across the Borough 
and the utilisation of space around existing trees. 

11 
Consider installation of green roofs on a site by site basis for suitable council 
buildings, taking advantage of current feasibility investigations. 

12 
Consider installation of permeable paving across council owned open spaces 
through the review of the site maintenance regime and refurbishment. 

13 
Consider the potential for development of larger scale flood storage options across 
the CDA. 

14 
Consider and implement options for raising community awareness including letter 
drop, information portal and/or preparation of a Community Flood Plan 

Page 71



 

 

Table 2 – High Priority Actions from the LBHF SWMP 

Uses of the SWMP 

Planning 

3.10. The SWMP will help provide a more robust evidence base for the Council’s 
planning policies in relation to dealing with surface water flood risk in new 
developments. Over 60% of the borough is located in the Environment 
Agency’s Flood Zones 2 and 3 indicating a medium to high risk to flooding 
from the Thames. Flood Risk Assessments (FRAs) are required with planning 
applications located in these areas. The FRA should assess flooding from all 
sources, including surface water and sewer, not just the fluvial and tidal flood 
risks associated with the river. FRAs use a range of documents to help assess 
flood risk, including the borough’s Strategic Flood Risk Assessment (SFRA). 
At the time this was published (5 years ago) there was less detailed 
information available on other forms of flooding, so the SWMP will help 
provide more up to date information on surface water/sewer and also 
groundwater flood risks in the borough. Developers can refer to the SWMP 
when preparing FRAs to help assess these sources of flooding for their site 
which in turn helps determine the type of surface water management and 
flood risk measures that should be integrated.  

3.11. The SWMP can also be used to help support changes to the council’s 
planning policies in relation to surface water flooding issues. Revisions to the 
Development Management Local Plan policy DM H3 on Reducing Water Use 
and Risk of Flooding are proposed so that planning applications in Flood Zone 
1 that would not normally need to submit  an FRA will be required to do so 
where development is located in a Critical Drainage Area (CDA), as defined in 
the SWMP. The SWMP therefore lends weight to the council’s requirements 
to help improve flood risk mitigation measures in new developments and also 
supports the integration of surface water management measures in the form 
of SuDS to help reduce the pressure on the combined sewer network. 

15 
Consider opportunities for Ongoing Improvements to the Maintenance of the 
Drainage Network 

16 
Ensure Development Control Policy incorporates Surface Water Flood Risk 
conditions and the latest available surface water flooding information including 
runoff rates, SuDS, etc. 

17 
Consider opportunities to promote rainwater harvesting in both new and existing 
development throughout the Borough. 

18 
Consider opportunities to promote use of water butts in both new and existing 
development throughout the Borough. 

19 
Consider opportunities to promote awareness of property level flood mitigation 
measures throughout the Borough. 

20 
Identify areas where Community Flood Plans may be effective and consider 
opportunities to develop these, in conjunction with the local community. 

21 
Develop, update and maintain the draft Action Plan to meet the LBHF’s local flood 
risk management priorities. 

22 
Identify local flood risk management funding opportunities through internal and 
external, existing and future, funding initiatives and mechanisms 

Page 72



 

 

3.12. The SWMP also identifies areas where there is increased potential for 
elevated groundwater. Similarly, applications for new or extended basements 
in Flood Zone 1 which are not currently required to submit an FRA, would be 
required to submit an assessment to show that flood risk issues had been 
considered and mitigated where required.  

Drainage and Maintenance 

3.13. The SWMP can be used to coordinate and strategically plan the drainage 
provision in all new developments where piecemeal actions are inefficient and 
do not support consistent ownership and maintenance regimes for SuDS. 
Good drainage practice for new developments protects properties within the 
development and provides opportunities to reduce existing surface water flood 
risk downstream or to create capacity in the drainage system by reducing 
existing runoff. The SWMP will also help with forward planning to identify 
areas where SuDS can be incorporated in public spaces and roads, either in 
or near future development sites, as well as identifying potential routes for 
SuDS to discharge to water courses. The SWMP also considers the impacts 
on water quality, so as not to have untreated discharge. 

3.14. The SWMP will be used internally to identify areas of importance for projects 
that might reduce the risk of flooding, with SuDS projects prioritised in areas 
shown to exhibit flooding during extreme rainfall events. It will also be used 
alongside our gully maintenance records to identify areas where gully 
cleansing should be prioritised to ensure that the drainage network can 
operate to its maximum capability during extreme rainfall events. 

3.15. The SWMP also looks into a variety of measures and rated them for their 
applicability with each CDA. Certain measures were then taken forward and 
modelled on a borough wide scale to determine their potential impact on flood 
extents and depth in critical locations. These are shown in Table 3 below. 

Structural Measure Non-structural Measure 

Tree Planters  

Green Roofs  

Permeable Paving  

Detention Basins 

Raising Community Awareness 

On-going Improvements to Maintenance of Drainage Network 

Planning and Development Policies 

Water Conservation 

Improving Resilience to Flooding 

Table 3 – Borough Wide Preferred Options  

3.16. In addition to this a high level Cost Benefit Analysis was carried out on each of 
the structural options looking at surface water management benefits, 
reduction in properties at risk of flooding and additional benefits including 
environmental and social impacts. Outline cost estimates have been made 
based on engineering judgement, with capital and operational (maintenance) 
costs have been provided within cost bands, as defined within the Drain 
London Prioritisation Matrix Guidance. 

3.17.  It is worth noting that the modelling of these measures was undertaken using 
a broad brush approach to the analysis and should only be used to provide 

Page 73



 

 

outline recommendations as to what SuDS features would tend to perform 
better in particular areas.  

3.18. The SWMP establishes a starting point for a long-term action plan to manage 
surface water and will influence future capital investment.  It will also be used 
to influence bidding applications for funding from other sources such as Drain 
London and Defra/Environment Agency.  Funding is discussed further in 
Section 4. 

Emergency Response 

3.19. The SWMP will also help inform the Emergency Response teams both in 
planning for emergencies and in responding during them.  

3.20. Using the modelling results refuge centres can be appropriately selected and 
evacuation routes planned out prior to the occurrence of a flooding event. 

3.21. The SWMP will be used to help update the Multi-Agency Flood Plan which will 
detail out the procedures during a flooding event and will provide useful 
information highlighting where and when flooding is likely to occur and the 
differing degree of severity, so that emergency response teams can be better 
informed.  

4. STATUTORY DUTIES 

4.1. Under the Flood and Water Management Act, LLFAs are required to:  

• Prepare and maintain a strategy for local flood risk management in their 
areas, coordinating views and activity with other local bodies and 
communities through public consultation and scrutiny, and delivery 
planning.  

• Maintain a register of assets – these are physical features that have a 
significant effect on flooding in their area  

• Investigate significant local flooding incidents and publish the results of 
such investigations  

• Play a lead role in emergency planning and recovery after a flood event.  

4.2. Several of the actions highlighted within the SWMP are linked to statutory 
duties required of LBHF as a LLFA, including the delivery of a Local Flood 
Risk Management Strategy (LFRMS). This document will use much of the 
data from the SWMP to provide an overarching strategy for Flood Risk within 
the borough.  

4.3. Another statutory duty is the requirement for LBHF to feed into the Flood Risk 
Management Plan (FRMP) which is being undertaken at an Indicative Flood 
Risk Area (as per Section 3.8). It is proposed to present some of the key 
actions from the SWMP as actions for the FRMP, subject to Committee 
approval. 

5. FINANCES 

5.1. The proposal is to use the SWMP action plan as a means of prioritising the 
work to be carried out with the Flood Risk Management budget. The carrying 

Page 74



 

 

out of physical works are likely to be coordinated with other works scheduled, 
such as planned maintenance. 

5.2. Most actions proposed within the SWMP can be done internally under the 
guidance of the Flood Risk Manager as many relate to working closely with 
key stakeholders and raising awareness around certain surface water flooding 
issues. However, certain measures will require construction and external 
assistance, these are likely to be funded through the Flood Risk Management 
budget. 

5.3. For the past few years DEFRA have provided annual funding to LBHF as a 
Lead Local Flooding Authority to be used for Flood Risk Management, 
equating to approximately £330k per year. Although the exact figures are still 
to be confirmed, it is expected that a similar sum is likely to be received for 
FY15/16 and subsequent years.  

5.4. Additional funding is currently being sought to carry out the high priority action 
relating to tree planters (Action 10 within Table 2). An application has been 
submitted to the GLA for the new Mayor’s Street Tree Initiative looking at the 
installation of street trees integrated with SuDS. This could potentially bring in 
an additional £5k, with LBHF expected to match this funding through the 
Flood Risk Management budget and install said trees within FY14/15.  

5.5. There are current proposals in place, subject to Committee Approval, that 
funding be made available as part of the Local Improvements Programme 
(LIP) for improvements to the maintenance of the drainage network (action 15 
in Table 2). It is proposed that a study be undertaken to look at the correlation 
between the gully cleansing programme and Local Flood Risk Zones to see 
whether by prioritising key areas for more regular cleansing so that the 
drainage network can be better prepared for extreme rainfall events. This will 
also help identify where recontouring of areas is required to reduce the risk of 
flooding. 

Mahmood Siddiqi 
Bi-Borough Director for Transport and Highways 

 
Nigel Pallace 

Bi-Borough Executive Director for Transport and Technical Services   
 
 

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

No. 
Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/Location 

1 

London Borough of 
Hammersmith & Fulham 
Surface Water 
Management Plan (2014) 

George Warren 6691 
Transport and Technical 
Services 

 

 
  

Page 75


	Agenda
	1 Minutes
	5 Parking on football match days
	6 RESIDENTS' VISITOR PARKING OPTIONS
	7 2015 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY (MTFS) - UPDATE
	8 REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT (RIPA)
	Item 7 - RIPA appendix 1

	9 SURFACE WATER MANAGEMENT PLAN (SWMP)

